REVISED SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS PLAN CITY OF HELENA LANDFILL GROUNDWATER, SURFACE WATER, AND LANDFILL GAS MONITORING ACTIVITIES

Prepared for:

Mr. Randall Camp **City of Helena** City/County Building 316 North Park Ave. Helena, MT 59623

Prepared by:

Hydrometrics, Inc. 3020 Bozeman Avenue Helena, MT 59601

March 2019

LIST OF TABLES	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	V
LIST OF APPENDICES	V
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1-1
1.1 SITE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND	1-1
1.1.1 Location and History	1-1
1.1.2 Groundwater Monitoring	1-4
1.1.3 Groundwater Remediation	1-6
1.1.4 Surface Water Monitoring	1-6
1.1.5 Landfill Gas Monitoring	1-8
1.1.6 Landfill Gas Remediation	1-8
1.2 PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND TASK ASSIGNMENTS	1-9
1.3 GROUNDWATER MONITORING REQUIREMENTS AND	
SCHEDULES	1-10
1.3.1 Groundwater Monitoring Schedule	1-10
1.3.2 June Groundwater Monitoring Sites and Parameters	1-11
1.3.3 December Groundwater Monitoring Sites and Parameters	1-11
1.3.4 Groundwater Reporting Requirements and Schedules	1-11
1.4 SURFACE WATER MONITORING REQUIREMENTS AND	
SCHEDULES	1-14
1.4.1 Surface Water Monitoring Schedule	1-14
1.4.2 Surface Water Monitoring Sites and Parameters	1-14
1.4.3 Surface Water Reporting Requirements and Schedules	1-14
1.5 LANDFILL GAS MONITORING REQUIREMENTS AND	
SCHEDULES	1-15
1.5.1 Landfill Gas Monitoring Schedule	1-15
1.5.2 Monthly Landfill Gas Monitoring Sites and Parameters	1-15
1.5.3 Quarterly Landfill Gas Monitoring Sites and Parameters	1-16
1.5.4 Landfill Gas Monitoring Reporting Requirements and Schedul	les.1-16

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.0 DATA COLLECTION PLAN	2-1
2.1 DATA COLLECTION OBJECTIVES	2-1
2.2 GENERAL SAMPLE HANDLING PROCEDURES	2-1
2.2.1 Field Documentation	2-1
2.2.2 Sample Numbering	2-2
2.2.3 Sample Handling, Packaging, Shipping, and Chain-of-Custody.	2-2
2.3 GROUNDWATER SAMPLING PROCEDURES	2-2
2.3.1 Groundwater Well Sampling Procedures	2-4
2.3.2 Field Quality Control Sample Collection	2-7
2.4 SURFACE WATER SAMPLING PROCEDURES	2-7
2.4.1 Pond Sampling	2-8
2.4.2 Sprinkler Sampling	2-8
2.5 LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING PROCEDURES	2-8
2.5.1 Landfill Gas Probe Sampling	2-9
2.5.2 Gas Extraction Well Sampling	2-10
2.5.3 Gas Extraction System Stack Sampling	2-11
2.5.4 Gas Extraction System Equipment Check	2-11
2.5.5 Methane Alarms Check	2-12
3.0 QUALITY ASSURANCE/QUALITY CONTROL PROJECT PLAN	3-1
3.1 DATA QUALITY OBJECTIVES	3-2
3.1.1 Precision Objective	3-3
3.1.2 Accuracy Objectives	3-3
3.1.3 Representativeness Objective	3-4
3.1.4 Completeness Objective	3-4
3.1.5 Comparability Objective	3-4
3.2 SAMPLING PROCEDURES	3-5
3.2.1 Field Measurements and Sample Collection Procedures	3-5
3.2.2 Sample Labeling, Documentation, and Shipping Procedures	3-5
3.3 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL SAMPLE COLLECTION	3-5
3.4 LABORATORY PROCEDURES	3-6
3.4.1 Analytical Detection Limits	3-6

3.4.2 Laboratory Quality Control Limits	3-7
3.4.3 Laboratory Deliverables	3-7
3.4.4 Data Quality Review	3-8
3.4.5 Corrective Actions	3-9
3.5 DATA QUALITY REPORTS	3-9
4.0 REFERENCES	4-1

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1-1.	PROJECT PERSONNEL AND RESPONSIBILITIES	1-10
TABLE 1-2.	JUNE MONITORING SITES AND SAMPLING PARAMETERS.	1-12
TABLE 1-3.	DECEMBER MONITORING SITES AND SAMPLING	
	PARAMETERS	1-13
TABLE 1-4.	MONITORING SITES AND PARAMETERS FOR MONTHLY	
	LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING	1-17
TABLE 1-5.	MONITORING SITES AND PARAMETERS FOR QUARTERLY	-
	LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING	1-18
TABLE 2-1.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE	S
	FOR SAMPLING GROUNDWATER	2-3
TABLE 2-2.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD FIELD FORMS FOR	
	SAMPLING GROUNDWATER	2-3
TABLE 2-3.	GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL COMPLETION	
	INFORMATION	2-5
TABLE 2-4.	GROUNDWATER SAMPLE CONTAINER, PRESERVATION	
	AND HOLDING TIME REQUIREMENTS	2-6
TABLE 2-5.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD OPERATING	
	PROCEDURES FOR SAMPLING SURFACE WATER	2-7
TABLE 2-6.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD FIELD FORMS FOR	
	SAMPLING SURFACE WATER	2-7

TABLE 2-7.	SURFACE WATER SAMPLE CONTAINER, PRESERVATION	
	AND HOLDING TIME REQUIREMENTS	2-8
TABLE 2-8.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD OPERATING	
	PROCEDURES FOR SAMPLING LANDFILL GAS	2-9
TABLE 2-9.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD FIELD FORMS FOR	
	SAMPLING LANDFILL GAS	2-9
TABLE 2-10.	STACK GAS SAMPLE CONTAINER, PRESERVATION	
	AND HOLDING TIME REQUIREMENTS	2-11
TABLE 3-1.	SUMMARY OF LABORATORY QUALITY CONTROL LIMITS.	3-7
TABLE 3-2.	DATA VALIDATION CODES AND DEFINITIONS	3-8

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1-1.	SITE LOCATION	1-2
FIGURE 1-2.	SITE PLAN AND DECEMBER 2018 POTENTIOMETRIC	
	SURFACE	1-3
FIGURE 1-3.	GROUNDWATER AND LANDFILL GAS REMEDIATION	
	SYSTEMS	1-7

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A	WELL LOGS
APPENDIX B	FIELD SAMPLING SITE FORMS
APPENDIX C	40 CFR PART 258 APPENDIX I TABLE 1
APPENDIX D	STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES AND FORMS

REVISED SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS PLAN CITY OF HELENA LANDFILL GROUNDWATER, SURFACE WATER, AND LANDFILL GAS MONITORING ACTIVITIES

1.0 INTRODUCTION

In accordance with State of Montana regulations, this Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) includes both a sampling plan (referred herein as the Data Collection Plan) and a quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) plan. The Data Collection Plan addresses field sampling and laboratory analysis procedures, while the QA/QC plan addresses data quality procedures to ensure the collected samples are of known and acceptable quality to support their intended uses. Data generated under this plan will be used by the City of Helena and the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) for compliance and assessment monitoring of the closed City of Helena Landfill and statistical data evaluations in accordance with the groundwater monitoring regulations.

1.1 SITE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1.1 Location and History

A site location map is provided in Figure 1-1. The landfill is located east of Carroll College, west of Memorial Park and north of Lyndale Avenue. The landfill is surrounded for several miles in all directions by residential, commercial and industrial zoned property. There are several businesses upgradient of the landfill that have the potential to affect groundwater quality in the area.

A site plan and December 2018 potentiometric surface is shown on Figure 1-2. The landfill encompasses about 37 acres and is divided into three sections. The southern part of the landfill (Phase I and Phase II sections) opened in the late 1800s, when open burning was the primary disposal method. Prior to 1970 no records of disposal practices are available, so actual methods



LTABORSKY\HEL\20190205\I:\LAND PROJECTS\1273B201\DWG\1273B201H072.DWG



DTWL	MPE	SWL
13.64	3997.25	3983.61
62.00	3982.54	3920.54
42.48	3984.03	3941.55
50.63	3992.09	3941.46
nm	3982.71	
49.41	3946.34	3896.93
48.72	3945.81	3897.09
43.24	3956.90	3913.66
54.68	3960.75	3906.07
50.85	3994.12	3943.27
33.15	3972.45	3939.30
32.83	3970.71	3937.88
49.01	3946.48	3897.47
50.39	3949.07	3898.68
46.27	3951.39	3905.12
5.37	3921.91	3916.54
58.25	3912.74	3854.49
21.22	3949.06	3927.84
16.39	3939.07	3922.68
52.05	3994.01	3941.96
	DTWL 13.64 62.00 42.48 50.63 nm 49.41 48.72 43.24 54.68 50.85 33.15 32.83 49.01 50.39 46.27 5.37 58.25 21.22 16.39 52.05	DTWLMPE13.643997.2562.003982.5442.483984.0350.633992.09nm3982.7149.413946.3448.723945.8143.243956.9054.683960.7550.853994.1233.153972.4532.833970.7149.013946.4850.393949.0746.273951.395.373921.9158.253912.7421.223949.0616.393939.0752.053994.01



Hydrometrics, Inc. According Scientists and Engineers

of disposal are not well defined. In 1970, landfill operations began when sanitary landfill regulations were promulgated and open burning ceased. This area operated until the early 1980s and is unlined.

The northern part of the landfill (Phase III) is also unlined, and was in operation until November 1993. The Phase III landfill has been capped with an 18-inch clay cover to minimize surface water percolation through the landfill and subsequent migration of chemicals into groundwater. The landfill is defined by the Administrative Rules of Montana as a Class II landfill, which is to contain solid waste and decomposable waste, and only household quantities of hazardous waste.

After closure, all areas of the landfill were converted into what is now Centennial Park. Park improvements completed during 2011 added additional soil cover at varying depths over the majority of the landfill. The requirements for final closure were fulfilled and effective January 27, 2000; however, because of the potential for landfills to adversely impact the environment for an extended period after closure, post-closure monitoring as well as corrective action must continue at the facility until MDEQ gives written approval to discontinue.

1.1.2 Groundwater Monitoring

The present groundwater monitoring well network consists of twenty-nine sampling sites including eighteen monitoring wells, eight domestic wells, two irrigation wells and the infiltration gallery as shown in Figure 1-2. The well logs for each of the wells are provided in Appendix A and field sampling site forms for each sampling site are included in Appendix B. These wells are characterized as follows:

- Background monitoring wells: HL-06-1, HL-94-1R, HL-94-2R, MPC-5;
- Downgradient monitoring wells: EPA-1, HL-10-1, HL-90-1, HL-90-2, HL-90-3, HL-99-1, HL-99-2, HL-99-3, MPC-1, MPC-2;
- Cross-gradient monitoring wells: HL-94-3;
- Water level only monitoring wells: 82-3, EPA-2, EPA-4, I-1;

- Domestic Wells: 5, 16, 40, 48, 57, 62, 90, and Bridger Veterinary Clinic; and
- Irrigation Wells: I-1, I-4, Infiltration Gallery.

Figure 1-2 also shows recent water level elevations observed in December 2018 and the groundwater potentiometric surface contours. The general groundwater flow direction in the vicinity of the landfill is to the north-northwest.

Data collected from monitoring wells in accordance with the previous project work plans, "Sampling and Analysis Plan, City of Helena Landfill Groundwater Monitoring Activities" (Hydrometrics, 1994); "Revised Sampling and Analysis Plan, City of Helena Landfill Groundwater, Surface Water, and Landfill Gas Monitoring Activities" (Hydrometrics, 2006), and "Revised Sampling and Analysis Plan, City of Helena Landfill Groundwater, Surface Water, and Landfill Gas Monitoring Activities" (Hydrometrics, 2008), have been evaluated according to the statistical procedures required by MDEQ on a semi-annual basis for the past ten years. The statistical reports conclude that:

- Concentrations of common ions downgradient of the landfill are not statistically greater than concentrations found in background wells with the exception of chloride in two downgradient wells.
- Elevated concentration of nitrate + nitrite as N (nitrate) exist both upgradient and downgradient of the landfill with the highest concentrations historically occurring in upgradient wells.
- Elevated concentration of cyanide exist both upgradient and downgradient of the landfill with the highest concentrations historically occurring in upgradient wells.
- Trace metals occur downgradient of the landfill at concentrations at or below those in upgradient or background wells with the exception of copper, mercury, and zinc which have statistically greater concentrations in some downgradient wells compared to background wells. All detections were well below the primary Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) values for their respective parameters.
- Several chlorinated hydrocarbons occur downgradient of the landfill at trace levels and are not found in background wells.

1 - 5

• Tetrachloroethene (PCE) is the chlorinated organic compound of greatest concern due to MCL exceedances; however, concentrations of PCE appear to be decreasing over time in well EPA-1, the well that has historically shown the highest concentrations, and in compliance wells HL-90-1, HL-99-1, and HL-99-3.

1.1.3 Groundwater Remediation

In an attempt to reduce concentrations of PCE downgradient of the landfill, the City installed a groundwater extraction system (GWES) in the spring of 2000. This treatment system included the installation of three pumping wells HL-99-1, HL-99-2, and HL-99-3 to intercept PCE impacted groundwater migrating downgradient of the landfill. This remediation system is shown in Figure 1-3. Extracted groundwater is then treated to remove volatile organic compounds (VOCs) prior to land application on Bill Roberts Golf Course. In accordance with regulations, the treated water is sampled monthly during operation to ensure the treatment goals have been met prior to land application. The three extraction wells along with compliance wells HL-10-1 and HL-90-1 are monitored semiannually to evaluate the progress of the GWES.

1.1.4 Surface Water Monitoring

Since the GWES uses land application to dispose of the treated water, the applied water must be sampled during system operation to ensure treatment goals (less than the detection limit for all VOCs) are met prior to application on the golf course. The present surface water monitoring consists of two sampling sites including one sample collected from one of the collection ponds on Bill Roberts Golf Course (see Figure 1-3) and one sample collected from the golf course irrigation system near the collection ponds.





LEGEND

- GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL
- IRRIGATION WELL
- LANDFILL GAS MONITORING WELL
- LANDFILL GAS EXTRACTION WELL
- TEMPORARY VAPOR PROBE

INFILTRATION GALLERY (GROUNDWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM)

STORM WATER OUTFALL FOR LAST CHANCE GULCH

GROUNDWATER AND LANDFILL GAS REMEDIATION SYSTEMS FIGURE

1-3

1.1.5 Landfill Gas Monitoring

The present landfill gas monitoring well network consists of sixty-nine sampling sites including thirty-eight methane probes, ten groundwater wells, two utility corridor gas probes, nine gas extraction system (GES) components, and ten nearby buildings. The location of each of the sampling sites is shown in Figure 1-2. The well logs for each of the methane probes are provided in Appendix A and field sampling sites for each site are included in Appendix B. These sites are characterized as follows:

- Methane Probes: H-1, H-2, H-3, H-4, H-7, H-9, H-10, H-12R, H-13, H-14R, H-16, H-17, H-18, H-19 (shallow and deep probes), H-20, H-21, H-22, H-23R, H-25, H-26, H-27, H-28, H-29, H-30, H-31, H-32, H-33, H-34, H-35, H-36, H-37, H-38, H-39, H-40, H-42, H-43, H-44;
- Groundwater Wells: HL-90-1, HL-90-2, HL-90-3, EPA-1, EPA-2, EPA-4, MPC-1, MPC-2, M-5, HL-1;
- Utility Corridor Methane Probes: Carroll College sanitary sewer, Carroll College storm sewer;
- GES Components: EW-1, EW-2, EW-3, EW-4, EW-5, EW-7, YMCA GES stack gas, Carroll College interception trench stack gas, Lyndale interception trench stack gas; and
- Nearby Buildings: concrete fabricators, transfer station, transfer station scale house, transfer station office, Carroll College shop, St. Catherine dormitory, St. Matthew dormitory, old Armory building, YMCA basement, YMCA mechanical room.

1.1.6 Landfill Gas Remediation

In attempts to reduce methane migrating off-site and into areas of concern, three landfill gas extraction systems have been installed. In 1998, six gas extraction wells were installed on the west and north sides of the YMCA, as shown in Figure 1-3, to help prevent methane from entering the building's basement. These wells are manifolded together and attached to a blower which extracts gas from these wells and the surrounding areas. The extracted gas is passed through carbon canisters to remove volatile organics before being vented to the atmosphere. In late 2004, EW-6 was blinded off and no more gas could be extracted from

that well. In March 2005, EW-7 was drilled just east of EW-6 and added to the system. Since installation of the YMCA GES, concentrations of methane have decreased below the instrument detection limit in EW-1 and EW-2; these two wells are no longer used to actively remove landfill gas from this area.

In 1999, a passive interception trench was installed near and along the boundary between the old landfill and Carroll College property as shown in Figure 1-3. A collection header runs through the trench to collect landfill gases that are released through an attic ventilator on the roof of the vent house located at the north end of the trench. Since installation, no detectable concentration of methane has been measured in any well west of the interception trench.

In 2016, another passive interception trench was installed along the southern boundary of the landfill just north of Lyndale Avenue as shown in Figure 1-3. A collection header runs through the trench to collect landfill gases that are released through an attic ventilator on the roof of the vent house located at the east end of the trench. Since installation, no detectable concentration of methane has been measured in monitoring wells H-32 and H-33 located in the Lyndale Avenue median.

1.2 PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND TASK ASSIGNMENTS

The successful implementation of this SAP is the primary responsibility of the project manager, while meeting the project objectives depends upon faithful execution of this plan by all project members. The roles and responsibilities of key project personnel are as shown on Table 1-1.

Role	Personnel	Responsibility		
Owner's Representatives	Randall Camp and Pete Anderson City of Helena	Review and approve all activities to ensure Owner's needs are met.		
MDEQ Contact	John Collins MDEQ	Review reports and submittals to ensure compliance with all relevant regulations.		
Project Manager	Mike Wignot Hydrometrics, Inc.	Oversee all Hydrometrics activities.		
Project Engineer	Jodi Bingham Hydrometrics, Inc.	Complete all reports and submittals as required to ensure compliance with all relevant regulations and to meet Owner's needs.		
Sampling Monitor	Rick Lane Hydrometrics, Inc.	Supervise Hydrometrics field personnel, equipment, procedures and documentation.		
QA Officer/Data Monitor	Ericka Vallance Hydrometrics, Inc.	Supervise field and laboratory QA/QC procedures; corrective actions; performance and systems audits. Data quality review; track and maintain records and samples.		
Health and Safety Officer	Bob Anderson Hydrometrics, Inc.	Determine appropriate levels of personal protection; assures compliance with Site Safety Plan.		
Analytical Laboratory/ Analysis Monitor	Energy Laboratories, Inc.	Analyze collected samples. Monitor supervises laboratory personnel, equipment, procedures, and documentation; reviews laboratory internal QC before analytical data is released.		

TABLE 1-1. PROJECT PERSONNEL AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1.3 GROUNDWATER MONITORING REQUIREMENTS AND SCHEDULES

1.3.1 Groundwater Monitoring Schedule

Semiannual sampling is scheduled for June and December to coincide with maximum and minimum groundwater levels, respectively, as determined by monthly water level measurements collected as outlined in a previous sampling plan (Hydrometrics, 1994). The June sampling schedule includes all the sampling sites while the December sampling event includes only those wells with MCL exceedances or increasing parameter trends.

1.3.2 June Groundwater Monitoring Sites and Parameters

As listed in Section 1.1.2, eighteen monitoring wells, eight domestic wells, two irrigations wells, and the infiltration gallery will be included as part of the June groundwater sampling. These samples will aid in defining the potentiometric surface, the extent of groundwater contamination, and the effectiveness of remediation. Table 1-2 shows the monitoring sites and analytical schedule for the June sampling events. Based on past sampling results, the order listed on Table 1-2 will be the order in which the samples will typically be collected (generally clean to dirty). In addition to the groundwater samples, several quality control samples will be collected and analyzed to assure quality of the sample collection and analysis procedures. These samples will include a duplicate sample, a rinsate sample, a DI blank, and at least one trip blank.

1.3.3 December Groundwater Monitoring Sites and Parameters

Eight monitoring wells and two domestic wells will be included as part of the December groundwater sampling. In addition, water level measurements will be taken from an additional eleven monitoring and irrigation wells. Table 1-3 shows the monitoring sites and analytical schedule for the December sampling events. Based on past sampling results, the order listed on Table 1-3 will be the order in which the samples will typically be collected (generally clean to dirty). In addition to the groundwater samples, several quality control samples will be collected and analyzed to assure quality of the sample collection and analysis procedures. These samples will include a duplicate sample, a rinsate sample, a DI blank, and at least one trip blank.

1.3.4 Groundwater Reporting Requirements and Schedules

MDEQ will be notified prior to conducting groundwater sampling to provide them the opportunity to obtain split samples. A copy of the approved SAP will be kept at the office of the facility owner; a copy will also be kept by the Project Engineer and a copy will be provided to sampling personnel during sampling.

Well	Water Level	Field	Metals and	Volatile Organic
Identification	Measurement	Parameters ⁽¹⁾	Commons ⁽²⁾	Compounds ⁽³⁾
Infiltration Gallery	Х	Х		Х
MPC-2	Х	Х		Х
HL-90-2	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-94-1R	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-94-3	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-06-1	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-90-3	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-94-2R	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-99-1	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-99-2	Х	Х	Х	Х
HL-10-1	Х	Х	X	Х
HL-99-3	Х	Х	X	Х
MPC-1	Х	Х	X	Х
I-4		Х		Х
EPA-1	Х	Х	X	Х
MPC-5	Х	Х	X	Х
I-1	Х			
82-3	Х			
EPA-2	Х			
EPA-4	Х			
5 (350 Custer Ave.)		Х		Х
16 (3 Parr Court)		Х		Х
40 (2509 Teakwood)		Х		Х
48 (308 W. Custer Ave.)		Х		Х
Bridger Veterinary Clinic		X		X
(3104 Green Meadow Dr.)		Λ		Λ
57 (112 Dunbar Ave.)		Х		Х
62 (76 Dunbar Ave.)		Х		Х
90 (933 Cedar St.)		X		X

TABLE 1-2. JUNE MONITORING SITES AND SAMPLING PARAMETERS

Notes:

(1) Field parameters include pH, SC, and water temperature.

(2) Metals and commons include those compounds listed in the first half of 40 CFR Part 258 Appendix I.

(3) Volatile organic compounds include those listed in the second half of 40 CFR Part 258 Appendix I.

Well	Water Level	Field	Metals and	Volatile Organic
Identification	Measurement	Parameters ⁽¹⁾	Commons ⁽²⁾	Compounds ⁽³⁾
HL-94-1R	Х	Х	Х	Х
HL-06-1	Х	Х	Х	X
HL-99-1	Х	Х	Х	Х
HL-99-2	Х	Х	Х	Х
HL-90-1	Х	Х	Х	Х
HL-10-1	Х	Х	Х	Х
HL-99-3	Х	Х	Х	Х
MPC-5	Х	Х	Х	X
EPA-1	Х			
EPA-2	Х			
EPA-4	Х			
HL-90-2	Х			
HL-90-3	Х			
HL-94-2R	Х			
HL-94-3	Х			
I-1	Х			
Infiltration Gallery	Х			
MPC-1	Х			
MPC-2	Х			
5 (350 Custer Ave.)		Х		Х
16 (3 Parr Court)		Х		X

TABLE 1-3. DECEMBER MONITORING SITES AND SAMPLING PARAMETERS

Notes:

(1) Field parameters include pH, SC, and water temperature.

(2) Metals and commons include those compounds listed in the first half of 40 CFR Part 258 Appendix I.

(3) Volatile organic compounds include those listed in the second half of 40 CFR Part 258 Appendix I.

A copy of all field records will be kept on file at the Hydrometrics' Helena office. A data validation report will be completed after each sampling event to verify the data quality. A copy of this report including sampling results, field records, and deviations from the approved SAP will be provided to MDEQ.

Two statistical reports will be prepared each year by Hydrometrics after the June and December groundwater sampling events. These reports will fulfill the requirements provided in ARM Title 17, Chapter 50 and will describe all work performed during the previous six months and present all data collected and a statistical analysis of that data. These semi-annual statistical reports will be submitted to the City for review prior to submittal to MDEQ.

1.4 SURFACE WATER MONITORING REQUIREMENTS AND SCHEDULES

1.4.1 Surface Water Monitoring Schedule

Since the GWES uses land application to dispose of the treated water, the system is only operated during the irrigation season, approximately April through October. While the extraction system is in operation, monthly samples will be taken to ensure that treatment goals are being met prior to land application.

1.4.2 Surface Water Monitoring Sites and Parameters

A single sampling site will be included in the monthly surface water sampling. The sample will be collected in a stainless steel bowl from an operating sprinkler head near the lined holding ponds on Bill Roberts Golf Course. During the June sampling event, an additional sample will be taken from the edge of the east lined holding pond near the pump house as shown in Figure 1-3. Surface water samples will be analyzed for the VOCs listed in the second half of 40 CFR Part 258 Appendix I (see Appendix C) using the lowest detection limit for each VOC.

1.4.3 Surface Water Reporting Requirements and Schedules

A copy of the approved SAP will be kept at the office of the facility owner; a copy will also be kept by the Project Engineer and a copy will be provided to sampling personnel during sampling. A copy of all field records will be kept on file at the Hydrometrics' Helena office. MDEQ will be notified immediately upon receipt of any sprinkler sample that exceeds the treatment goals (the detection limit for each VOC) for the land application process. An annual land application compliance report will be completed at the end of each irrigation season. This report will include a complete set of analyses along with a summary of the work performed and the total volume of water extracted and treated during that irrigation season.

1.5 LANDFILL GAS MONITORING REQUIREMENTS AND SCHEDULES

1.5.1 Landfill Gas Monitoring Schedule

Monthly, the GES components as well as nine methane probes near the system will be sampled using the hand-held landfill gas meter. In addition, two probes near the southern landfill boundary (H-32 and H-33) will also be sampled. Two probes near the Transfer Station (H-7 and H-31) and one probe near the southern end of the Carroll College landfill gas interception trench (H-25) are sampled if the previous month's samples had measurable concentrations of methane present in these same wells; otherwise, they are sampled the next quarterly sampling event. Ten nearby buildings will also be monitored monthly for public safety. Quarterly, all the landfill gas monitoring sites listed in Section 1.1.5 will be sampled using the hand-held landfill gas meter. In addition, VOC bag samples will be taken from the YMCA GES stack, the Carroll College interception trench stack, and Lyndale interception trench stack to monitor the effectiveness of the remediation systems.

1.5.2 Monthly Landfill Gas Monitoring Sites and Parameters

Eleven methane probes, nine GES components and ten nearby buildings will be included as part of the monthly sampling. Three additional methane probes (H-7, H-25, and H-31) are sampled if the previous month's samples had measurable concentrations of methane present in these same wells; otherwise, they are sampled the next quarterly sampling event. These samples aid in defining the extent of landfill gas contamination and the effectiveness of remediation. There are six methane alarms located in buildings near the landfill (the YMCA basement, the YMCA mechanical room, the old Armory, the Carroll College shop, the transfer station scale house, and the transfer station office scale house). These alarms will all be tested on a monthly basis to confirm their condition and performance. The equipment in

the YMCA GES building will also be checked each month and routine maintenance performed. Table 1-4 shows the monitoring sites and analytical schedule for the monthly sampling events.

1.5.3 Quarterly Landfill Gas Monitoring Sites and Parameters

In addition to the typical monthly sampling, twenty-six methane probes, ten groundwater monitoring wells, and two utility corridor probes will be included as part of the quarterly sampling during the January, April, July, and October sampling events. These samples will aid in defining the extent of landfill gas contamination. Ten temporary methane probes (H-34 through H-44) were installed along the southern boundary of the landfill to help define the landfill gas plume in this area; these probes typically last approximately five years and will be sampled as long as the wells remain in good condition. Table 1-5 shows the monitoring sites and analytical schedule for the quarterly sampling events. In addition, VOC samples will be taken from the YMCA GES stack, the Carroll College gas interception trench stack, and the Lyndale gas interception trench stack. The samples will be analyzed at the lab for the compounds listed in the second half of 40 CFR Part 258 Appendix I (see Appendix C). These samples will help determine the effectiveness of the remediation systems.

1.5.4 Landfill Gas Monitoring Reporting Requirements and Schedules

A copy of the approved SAP will be kept at the office of the facility owner; a copy will also be kept by the Project Engineer and a copy will be provided to sampling personnel during sampling. A copy of all field records will be kept on file at the Hydrometrics' Helena office.

Monthly reports will be prepared that will describe all work performed during the previous month, present all data collected that month, and provide the cumulative methane results for the year to date. These monthly reports will be submitted to the City of Helena and MDEQ within 30 days after collecting the data. Quarterly reports will also be submitted to Carroll College.

Site Identification	Gas Meter Readings ⁽¹⁾	Temperature	Pressure	Alarm Check		
METHANE PROBES						
H-1	Х		Х			
H-7 ⁽²⁾	X					
H-9	X		Х			
H-10	X		Х			
H-18	X		Х			
H-25 ⁽²⁾						
H-26	X		Х			
H-27	X		Х			
H-28	X		Х			
H-29	X		Х			
H-30	X		Х			
$H-31^{(2)}$	X					
H-32	X					
H-33	Х					
GAS EXT	FRACTION SYS	STEM COMPON	NENTS			
EW-1	X	X	Х			
EW-2	X	Х	Х			
EW-3	X	Х	Х			
EW-4	X	Х	Х			
EW-5	X	X	Х			
EW-7	X	X	Х			
YMCA GES Stack	X	X				
Carroll College GIT Stack	Х					
Lyndale GIT Stack	Х					
	NEARBY BU	JILDINGS				
Concrete Fabricators	X					
Transfer Station Scale	Х			Х		
Transfer Station	Х					
Transfer Station Office	X			Х		
Carroll College Shop	X			Х		
St. Catherine dormitory	X					
St. Matthew dormitory	X					
Old Armory Building	X			X		
YMCA Basement	X			Х		
YMCA Mechanical Room	X			Х		

TABLE 1-4.MONITORING SITES AND PARAMETERSFOR MONTHLY LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING

Notes:

(1) Landfill gas meter readings include %methane, %LEL, and %oxygen.

(2) Sampled only if the previous month's samples had measureable concentrations of methane present in this same well; otherwise, are sampled during the next quarterly sampling event.

Site Identification	Gas Meter Readings ⁽¹⁾	Temperature	Pressure	Alarm Check		
METHANE PROBES						
H-1	Х		Х			
H-2	Х					
Н-3	Х					
H-4	Х					
H-7	Х					
Н-9	Х		Х			
H-10	Х		Х			
H-12R	Х					
H-13	Х					
H-14R	Х					
H-16	Х					
H-17	Х					
H-18	Х		Х			
H-19 shallow	Х					
H-19 deep	Х					
H-20	Х					
H-21	Х					
H-22	Х					
H-23R	Х					
H-25	Х					
H-26	Х		Х			
H-27	Х		Х			
H-28	Х		Х			
H-29	Х		Х			
H-30	Х		Х			
H-31	Х					
H-32	Х					
H-33	Х					
H-34 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-35 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-36 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-37 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-38 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-39 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-40 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-42 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-43 ⁽²⁾	Х					
H-44 ⁽²⁾	Х					

TABLE 1-5. MONITORING SITES AND PARAMETERSFOR QUARTERLY LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING

H:\Files\027 COHEL\1273\S&A Plan - 2019\R19 Rev S&A Plan.Docx\\3/11/19\065

TABLE 1-5. MONITORING SITES AND PARAMETERSFOR QUARTERLY LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING (continued)

Site Identification	Gas Meter Readings ⁽¹⁾	Temperature	Pressure	Alarm Check		
UTILITY CORRIDOR PROBES						
CC Sanitary Sewer	Х					
CC Storm Sewer	Х					
GAS EXT	TRACTION SYS	STEM COMPON	NENTS			
EW-1	Х	X	Х			
EW-2	Х	Х	X			
EW-3	Х	Х	Х			
EW-4	Х	Х	Х			
EW-5	Х	X	Х			
EW-7	Х	X	Х			
YMCA GES Stack	Х	X				
Carroll College GIT Stack	Х					
Lyndale GIT Stack	Х					
GROU	NDWATER MO	NITORING WI	ELLS			
HL-90-1	Х					
HL-90-2	Х					
HL-90-3	Х					
EPA-1	Х					
EPA-2	Х					
EPA-4	Х					
MPC-1	Х					
MPC-2	Х					
M-5	Х					
HL-1	Х					
	NEARBY BU	U ILDINGS				
Concrete Fabricators	Х					
Transfer Station Scale	Х			Х		
Transfer Station	Х					
Transfer Station Office	Х			Х		
Carroll College Shop	Х			Х		
St. Catherine dormitory	X					
St. Matthew dormitory	Х					
Old Armory Building	X			Х		
YMCA Basement	X			Х		
YMCA Mechanical Room	Х			Х		

Notes:

(1) Landfill gas meter readings include %methane, %LEL, and %oxygen.

(2) These are temporary probes that were installed in 2014 and will be sampled as long as conditions allow.

A landfill GES performance report will be completed at the end of each year. This report will include the results of the stack sampling for the YMCA, Carroll College, and Lyndale gas extraction systems, an estimate of the total volume of gas and mass of each VOC extracted from the YMCA GES, and a summary of all work completed the previous year. This report will be submitted to the City of Helena and MDEQ.

2.0 DATA COLLECTION PLAN

2.1 DATA COLLECTION OBJECTIVES

This data collection plan (DCP) describes the procedures to be used during sample collection and analysis. When properly implemented, this DCP will ensure that the data collected will be representative of existing on-site conditions and comparable to previously collected data at this site.

2.2 GENERAL SAMPLE HANDLING PROCEDURES

2.2.1 Field Documentation

Field notebooks will be used to record pertinent sampling information as outlined in HSOP-

31: Field Notebooks, located in Appendix D. Notebook entries will include, at a minimum, the following information:

- Project name;
- Date and time;
- Sample location;
- Sample number;
- Sampling personnel present;
- Analyses requested;
- Sample preservation;
- Field observations;
- Weather observations; and
- Other relevant project-specific site or sample information.

Entries will be made in permanent ink, with corrections crossed out with a single line, dated, and initialed. Field books will be signed and dated at the bottom of each page by personnel making entries on that page.

2.2.2 Sample Numbering

Individual samples (including QC samples) will be assigned unique sample numbers according to the following sample numbering scheme:

AAAA-YYMM-XXX

where AAAA is a four-character code denoting the project, YYMM is a four-digit code denoting the year (i.e., 18 for 2018) and month (i.e., 09 for September) of collection, and XXX is a three-digit code that is incremented sequentially for each successive sample (i.e., if the first sample collected is 100, then subsequent samples are numbered 101, 102, 103, etc.).

Additional information to be included on the sample container label (date, time, analytical parameters requested, etc.) is described in HSOP-29 in Appendix D.

2.2.3 Sample Handling, Packaging, Shipping, and Chain-of-Custody

Sample handling, packaging, and shipping requirements are outlined in HSOP-4: Chain-of-Custody Procedures, Packing, and Shipping Samples (Appendix D). All sample shipments will conform to Department of Transportation (DOT) requirements for environmental samples.

All shipped coolers will be accompanied by chain-of-custody documentation, and will be sealed with custody seals. Chain-of-custody requirements are outlined in Hydrometrics' HSOP-4 cited above. Each shipment to the laboratory also will be accompanied by a cover letter and parameter list specifying analytical parameters, analytical method, and required detection limits for the enclosed samples.

2.3 GROUNDWATER SAMPLING PROCEDURES

The most recent revision of the Standard Operating Procedure (SOPs) and standard field forms (or their equivalents) listed below in Tables 2-1 and 2-2, and included in Appendix D, will be used to guide the collection and documentation of groundwater samples, decontamination of equipment, sample handling and shipping procedures, and measurement of field parameters.

TABLE 2-1.SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD OPERATINGPROCEDURES FOR SAMPLING GROUNDWATER

Standard Operating Procedure	Title of Standard Operating Procedure
HF-SOP-2	Determination, Identification, and Description of Field Sampling Sites
HF-SOP-3	Preservation and Storage of Inorganic Water Samples
HF-SOP-4	Chain-of-Custody Procedures, Packing and Shipping Samples
HF-SOP-7	Decontamination of Sampling Equipment
HF-SOP-10	Water Level Measurement With An Electric Probe
HF-SOP-11	Sampling Monitoring Wells for Inorganic Parameters
HS-SOP-13	Equipment Rinsate Blank Collection
HF-SOP-20	Field Measurement of pH Using a pH Meter
HF-SOP-29	Labeling and Documentation of Samples
HF-SOP-31	Field Notebooks
HF-SOP-32	Preservation and Storage of Organic Water Samples
HF-SOP-35	Decontamination Procedures for Organics Sampling Equipment
HF-SOP-38	Sampling Monitoring Wells For Organic Parameters
HF-SOP-73	Filtration of Water Samples
HF-SOP-79	Field Measurement of Specific Conductivity
HF-SOP-84	Field Measurement of Temperature

TABLE 2-2.SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARDFIELD FORMS FOR SAMPLING GROUNDWATER

Form	Title of Standard Field Form
HF-FORM-001	Chain-of-Custody Record
HF-FORM-430	Water Sampling Form
HF-FORM-500	Instrument Calibration Form

2.3.1 Groundwater Well Sampling Procedures

The general sequence of procedures for well sampling will be as follows:

- Static water level will be measured with a water level probe prior to well purging. Static water levels will be used with surveyed well elevations to determine groundwater elevations relative to mean sea level for each monitoring event.
- 2. Wells will be purged to remove stagnant water. The volume of water removed prior to sampling will be a minimum of three well bore volumes.
- Samples will be collected from each well for analysis of VOCs, common ions, nitrate + nitrite as N, chemical oxygen demand, cyanide, and dissolved metals. In addition, field parameters will be measured at each well, including pH, specific conductance (SC), and water temperature.

Samples will be collected from monitoring wells using a dedicated pump, decontaminated stainless steel bailer, a plastic disposable bailer, or a decontaminated submersible pump. Prior to sampling, the static water level will be measured with a decontaminated water level probe. A minimum of three well bore volumes will be purged from each monitoring well before samples are collected. Table 2-3 shows the monitoring well completion information including casing size, well depth and measuring point elevation so that well bore volumes and static water levels can be easily calculated. Sampling of monitoring wells will be performed in accordance with Hydrometrics' SOP HF-SOP-38: Sampling Monitoring Wells for Organic Parameters and HF-SOP-11: Sampling Monitoring Wells for Inorganic Parameters. Per DEQ guidance, purge water generated during sampling and decontamination will be disposed of on the ground near the monitoring site.

If a non-dedicated pump is used to purge or sample groundwater, the pump and tubing will be thoroughly decontaminated between sample locations using a phosphate-free detergent rinse, followed by a tap water rinse and a deionized water rinse. Field instruments will be rinsed thoroughly with distilled or deionized water between sampling locations.

Well Identification	Casing Inside Diameter (in)	Total Depth of Well (ft)	Screened Interval	Measuring Point Elevation (ft)
EPA-1	2.0	54.5	39.5-54.5	3984.03
HL-06-1	6.0	26.5	16.0-26.5	3997.25
HL-10-1	6.0	78.0	58.0-78.0	3946.34
HL-90-1	4.0	60.0	40.0-60.0	3945.81
HL-90-2	4.0	68.0	60.0-68.0	3956.90
HL-90-3	4.0	79.0	59.0-79.0	3960.75
HL-94-1R	2.0	86.0	66.0-86.0	3994.12
HL-94-2R	6.0	40.0	30.0-40.0	3972.45
HL-94-3	2.0	67.5	47.5-67.5	3970.71
HL-99-1	4.5	100.0	73.0-93.0	3946.48
HL-99-2	5.5	118.0	93.0-113.0	3949.07
HL-99-3	7.5" 0-80' 4.5"80-105'	105.0	80.0-100.0	3951.39
I-1	7.5	132.0	35.0-95.0	3912.74
I-4	7.5" 0-60' 5.5" 60-156'	156.0	60.0-156	
MPC-1	2.0	39.0	24.0-39.0	3949.06
MPC-2	2.0	35.5	20.5-35.5	3939.07
MPC-5	2.0	72.0	47.0-72.0	3994.01

TABLE 2-3.GROUNDWATER MONITORINGWELL COMPLETION INFORMATION

Sample containers, preservation methods, and holding times for the requested laboratory analytical parameters (VOC, common ions, nitrates + nitrite as N, chemical oxygen demand, cyanide, and dissolved metals) are listed in Table 2-4.

General groundwater sample handling procedures, including sample designation, sample shipment, documentation (labels, chain-of-custody records, field notebook) are discussed in Section 2.2.

TABLE 2-4.GROUNDWATER SAMPLE CONTAINER, PRESERVATIONAND HOLDING TIME REQUIREMENTS

Media	Parameters	Analytical Method ⁽¹⁾	Detection Limit	Sample Container	Preservation	Holding Time
Water	Physical Parameters			1-500 mL plastic bottle	Cool to ≤6°C	
	- pH - SC	A4500-HB A2510B	0.1 s.u. 1 umhos/cm	-		15 minutes 28 days
Water	Common Ions - sulfate - chloride	E300.0 E300.0	1 mg/L 1 mg/L	1-500 mL plastic bottle	Cool to ≤6°C	28 days
Water	Nitrate + Nitrite as N	E353.2	0.05 mg/L	1-500 mL plastic bottle	$pH < 2$ with H_2SO_4 ; cool to $\leq 6^{\circ}C$	28 days
Water	Dissolved Metals - antimony - arsenic - barium - beryllium - cadmium - chromium - cobalt - copper - iron - lead - mercury - nickel - selenium - silver - thallium - vanadium - zinc	E200.8 E200.8	0.0005 L 0.001 mg/L 0.003 mg/L 0.0008 mg/L 0.0003 mg/L 0.01 mg/L 0.01 mg/L 0.002 mg/L 0.0003 mg/L 0.0003 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0002 mg/L 0.0008 mg/L	1- 500 mL plastic bottle	Filtered (0.45 µm), pH < 2 with HNO ₃ ; cool to ≤6°C	6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 28 days 6 months 6 months 7 months
Water	Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)	E410.4	4 mg/L	1-500 mL plastic bottle	$pH < 2$ with H_2SO_4 ; cool to $\leq 6^{\circ}C$	28 days
Water	Cyanide	Kelada-01	0.003 mg/L	1-250 mL plastic bottle	PH<2 with NaOH; cool to 4° C	14 days
Water	VOC (see Appendix C)	SW8260B	Standard detection limit (see specific compound – PCE=0.0005 mg/L)	3-40 mL VOA vials (no headspace)	pH < 2 with HCl; cool to $\leq 6^{\circ}C$	14 days

Notes:

(1) All methods are EPA methods unless otherwise specified.

2.3.2 Field Quality Control Sample Collection

Field quality control (QC) samples will be collected to aid in the evaluation of data quality. The type of QC sample to be collected, QC sample collection procedures and the required frequency of QC sample collection are discussed in Section 3.3.

2.4 SURFACE WATER SAMPLING PROCEDURES

The latest version of the SOPs and standard field forms (or their equivalents) listed below in Tables 2-5 and 2-6 and included in Appendix D will be used to guide the collection and documentation of surface water samples, as well as sample handling and shipping procedures.

TABLE 2-5.	SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD OPERATING
PROCE	DURES FOR SAMPLING SURFACE WATER

Standard Operating Procedure	Title of Standard Operating Procedure
HF-SOP-2	Determination, Identification, and Description of Field Sampling Sites
HF-SOP-4	Chain-of-Custody Procedures, Packing and Shipping Samples
HF-SOP-7	Decontamination of Sampling Equipment
HF-SOP-29	Labeling and Documentation of Samples
HF-SOP-31	Field Notebooks
HF-SOP-32	Preservation and Storage of Organic Water Samples
HF-SOP-35	Decontamination Procedures for Organics Sampling Equipment

TABLE 2-6.SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARDFIELD FORMS FOR SAMPLING SURFACE WATER

Form	Title of Standard Field Form
HF-FORM -001	Chain-of-Custody Record
HF-FORM -430	Water Sampling Form

2.4.1 Pond Sampling

Samples will be collected from the edge of the pond directly into the sample containers, taking care to ensure that as little particulate matter is included in the sample as possible. The sampler will ensure that no air bubbles are present in the vials prior to sealing. Sample containers, preservation methods, and holding times for the requested analytical parameters (VOCs) are listed in Table 2-7. General water sample handling procedures, including sample designation, sample shipment, documentation (labels, chain-of-custody records, field notebook) are discussed in Section 2.2.

TABLE 2-7.SURFACE WATER SAMPLE CONTAINER, PRESERVATIONAND HOLDING TIME REQUIREMENTS

Media	Parameters	Analytical Method	Detection Limit	Sample Container	Preservation	Holding Time
Water	VOC (see Appendix C)	EPA 8260B	(see specific compound, PCE = 0.0005 mg/L)	3-40 mL VOA vials (no headspace)	pH < 2 with HCl; cool to <6°C	14 days

2.4.2 Sprinkler Sampling

Samples will be collected from a sprinkler head near the Golf Course pump house. The sprinkler will be turned on and a sample collected in a metal bowl from the sprinkler discharge as it nears the ground. The sample will then be transferred to the appropriate sample containers ensuring that no air bubbles are present in the vials prior to sealing. Sample containers, preservation methods, and holding times for the requested analytical parameters (VOCs) are the same as for the pond samples and are listed in Table 2-7. General sample handling procedures, including sample designation, sample shipment, documentation (labels, chain-of-custody records, field notebook) are discussed in Section 2.2.

2.5 LANDFILL GAS SAMPLING PROCEDURES

The latest version of the SOPs and standard field forms (or their equivalents) listed below in Tables 2-8 and 2-9, and included in Appendix D, will be used to guide the collection and documentation of landfill gas samples, sample handling and shipping procedures, and measurement of field parameters.

TABLE 2-8.SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD OPERATINGPROCEDURES FOR SAMPLING LANDFILL GAS

Standard Operating Procedure	Title of Standard Operating Procedure
HF-SOP-2	Determination, Identification, and Description of Field Sampling Sites
HSOP-4	Chain-of-Custody Procedures, Packing and Shipping Samples
HSOP-29	Labeling and Documentation of Samples
HSOP-31	Field Notebooks
HSOP-109	Landfill Gas Sampling Using Portable Gas Meter

TABLE 2-9.SUMMARY LIST OF STANDARD FIELDFORMS FOR SAMPLING LANDFILL GAS

Form	Title of Standard Field Form
HF-001	Chain-of-Custody Record
HF-500	Instrument Calibration Form
	Helena Landfill Monthly Gas Sampling Form
	Helena Landfill Quarterly Gas Sampling Form

2.5.1 Landfill Gas Probe Sampling

Monitoring wells can be accessed using either the appropriate Hydrometrics' key or a 9/16" socket wrench. Samples will be collected from monitoring wells using a portable landfill gas meter. Each gas probe and any groundwater well used for gas monitoring will be fitted with a PVC sampling cap containing a hose barb fitting and attached tubing. This tubing will be normally crimped and clamped to prevent atmospheric gases from entering the probe. If a pressure reading is required, a vacuum magnehelic gauge will be coupled to the sampling port via a hose-to-hose connector before removing the clamp. The vacuum reading will be recorded on the appropriate form. The tubing will then be re-crimped and clamped before disconnecting the gauge. When measuring landfill gas concentrations in the field, the landfill gas meter will be connected as described above. The meter and associated pump will then be

started and a gas sample taken. When gas readings stabilize, the results will be recorded on the appropriate form. The meter will then be shut down and the tubing clamped before disconnecting the meter from the sample port. Well lids will be replaced and locked after sampling.

2.5.2 Gas Extraction Well Sampling

Pressure will be measured across the orifice plate to determine the flow rate of gas being extracted. The center valve box contains both an upstream and a downstream sampling port which are normally crimped and clamped to prevent atmospheric gases from entering the system. The pressure can be measured with either a magnehelic gauge or an internal pressure indicator included in some landfill gas meters. The upstream tubing shall be connected to the inlet connection of the meter or pressure gauge and the downstream tubing shall be connected to the outlet connection before the clamps are removed. If using a gas meter, the meter will be turned on, but the associated air pump will remain off during the pressure reading. The pressure drop across the orifice will be recorded on the appropriate form. The sample tubing will be crimped and clamped before being disconnected from the meter.

All landfill gas field measurements from the YMCA GES wells will be accomplished using a portable landfill gas meter. The landfill gas meter will be connected as described above before removing the tubing clamps. The gas concentrations will then be allowed to stabilize before being recorded on the appropriate form. The sample tubing will be crimped and clamped before being disconnected from the meter.

The third valve box contains a temperature gauge and the sampler will read the temperature to the nearest degree and record the value on the appropriate form. If the temperature reads above 150 degrees Celsius, sampling personnel will shut down the extraction system and notify the Project Engineer or the Project Manager immediately as this may indicate an underground fire. Both valve box lids will be replaced after sampling.

2.5.3 Gas Extraction System Stack Sampling

The stacks for the YMCA GES, the Carroll College passive interception trench, and the Lyndale passive interception trench each have a sampling port to allow for easy sampling of the stack gases. The portable landfill gas meter will be connected to the sample port before the sample port valve is opened. The gas concentration measurements will be allowed to stabilize before the values are recorded on the appropriate form. The gas meter will then be disconnected and the inlet to a peristaltic pump connected in its place. The outlet of the pump will be connected inlet port of a gas sampling bag and the pump turned on. The valve on the bag will then be closed and the pump turned off before disconnecting the bag from the pump. The stack sample port valve will then be closed and the pump disconnected from the port.

Sample containers, preservation methods, and holding times for the requested laboratory analytical parameters are listed in Table 2-10.

TABLE 2-10. STACK GAS SAMPLE CONTAINER, PRESERVATIONAND HOLDING TIME REQUIREMENTS

Media	Parameters	Analytical Method ⁽¹⁾	Detection Limit	Sample Container	Preservation	Holding Time
Gas	VOC (see Appendix C)	EPA 8260B	(see specific compound)	1-500 ml Tedlar bag	Cool to $\leq 6^{\circ}C$	14 days

General sample handling procedures, including sample designation, sample shipment, documentation (labels, chain-of-custody records, field notebook) are discussed in Section 2.2.

2.5.4 Gas Extraction System Equipment Check

During the monthly monitoring of the GES wells, sampling personnel will also perform a brief check of the GES to ensure that the system is operating correctly. On the bottom of both the monthly and quarterly gas sampling forms, there is a YMCA GES checklist with a short list of operational parameters to be recorded and maintenance procedures to be
performed. The results of this check will be compared to conditions during normal operations. Should conditions fall outside the range of "normal" as indicated on the form, sampling personnel will immediately notify the Project Engineer or the Project Manager.

2.5.5 Methane Alarms Check

During the monthly monitoring of the landfill gas probes, sampling personnel will also perform a check on the methane alarms located in the transfer station scale house, the crawl space of the scale house office, the Carroll College shop, the basement of the old Armory building, the YMCA mechanical room located on the north side of the building, and underneath the pool in the YMCA. These alarms will be inspected to ensure good physical condition. Each alarm will be tested by passing a propane bottle near the alarm's detection port to ensure that an alarm does sound when the alarm is activated. Should the alarm fail to activate, sampling personnel will immediately notify the Project Engineer or the Project Manager. Gas sensors will be replaced prior to the manufacturer's specified expiration date.

3.0 QUALITY ASSURANCE/QUALITY CONTROL PROJECT PLAN

This quality assurance/quality control project plan (QA/QCPP) describes procedures for ensuring that chemical data generated from groundwater, surface water, and gas sampling are of known and acceptable quality to support their intended uses.

The QA/QCPP and its associated work plan are intended to provide a framework for sampling and analytical protocol for water and soil samples and summarizes procedures for expressing the quality of the results generated: quantitatively in terms of precision, accuracy, and completeness, and qualitatively in terms of representativeness and comparability.

The quality assurance mechanisms that will be used in this investigation can be categorized as prevention, assessment, and correction.

<u>**Prevention**</u> of defects in quality or quantity of measurements through planning and design of the investigation, documenting instructions and procedures, and employing experienced and qualified personnel.

Assessment of the quantity and quality of sampling and testing information through a data quality review. Analytical performance will be gauged from evaluation of field and laboratory quality control sample analyses. Data quality review of the analytical results will generally follow EPA established criteria, as found in National Functional Guidelines for Inorganic Superfund Methods Data Review (EPA, 2017a) and National Functional Guidelines for Organic Superfund Methods Data Review (EPA, 2017b). Review of analytical data will proceed as outlined in this QA/QCPP.

<u>Correction</u> of conditions, which could compromise the quality of samples or sample results, based on the review and inspection of measurements and measurement results. Corrective actions may be undertaken as described in Section 3.4.5 of this QA/QCPP.

Quality assurance in field investigation activities will be ensured through the use of standard field operating procedures (SOPs), sample chain-of-custody documentation, and submission of field duplicates and trip blanks. SOPs for all field activities including the collection, documentation and shipment of samples, decontamination of sampling equipment, and all other applicable activities have been included in Appendix D.

Quality assurance in laboratory analyses is ensured through the use of approved methods of analyses and through the laboratory's quality control program which includes regular analysis of laboratory control samples (standards), preparation blanks, duplicates, sample spikes, matrix spikes, matrix spike duplicates, and other calibration verification standards and blanks.

3.1 DATA QUALITY OBJECTIVES

The overall goal of the QA/QCPP is to ensure that data are acceptable for their intended uses. A summary of intended uses of data generated for this project are:

- To characterize landfill impacted groundwater conditions;
- To assist in remediation of landfill impacted groundwater;
- To characterize landfill gas migration conditions; and
- To assist in remediation of landfill gas.

To ensure that the data generated support the intended data uses, the following sampling and analytical specific data quality objectives for the PARCC parameters (precision, accuracy, representativeness, completeness and comparability) are specified. These sampling and analytical specific objectives are consistent with guidelines provided in National Functional Guidelines for Inorganic Superfund Methods Data Review (EPA, 2017a), National Functional Guidelines for Organic Superfund Methods Data Review (EPA, 2017b) and in EPA Requirements for Quality Assurance Project Plans (EPA, 2001). Assessment of the PARCC parameters will guide the evaluation of overall data quality.

3.1.1 Precision Objective

Precision is defined as a measure of reproducibility of replicate measurements, and is inversely related to the variability among the results obtained (e.g., highly variable results have low precision). Precision of field duplicates is a measure of both field sampling variability and the laboratory analytical variability. Precision will be assessed using field and laboratory duplicates, and laboratory matrix spike duplicates.

The control limit for precision is a relative percent difference (RPD) of 35% or less for field and laboratory duplicates for soil samples with concentrations greater than five times the PRDL (Project Required Detection Limit) and 20% RPD or less for aqueous analysis. Control limits for sample results less than five times the PRDL are plus or minus two times the PRDL for soils and plus or minus five times the PRDL for aqueous data. Matrix spike duplicate analyses will be used to determine laboratory precision. Control limits for matrix spike duplicates are listed in Table 1 and are taken from the USEPA Contract Laboratory Program Statement of Work for Inorganic Superfund Methods Multi-Media, Multi-Concentration (EPA, 2016a) and USEPA Contract Laboratory Program Statement of Work for Organic Superfund Methods Multi-Media, Multi-Concentration (EPA, 2016b).

The target precision is evaluation of 90% of all field and laboratory duplicates (matrix spike duplicates) to be within control limits.

3.1.2 Accuracy Objectives

Accuracy is the agreement between a measured value and a 'true' value. Accuracy will be assessed using field trip blanks, field equipment/rinsate blanks, laboratory matrix spikes, laboratory control standards, laboratory method blanks, laboratory fortified blanks, and laboratory surrogate standard checks. Control limits will be taken from the USEPA Contract Laboratory Program Statement of Work for Inorganic Superfund Methods Multi-Media, Multi-Concentration (EPA, 2016a) and USEPA Contract Laboratory Program Statement of Work for Organic Superfund Methods Multi-Media, Multi-Concentration (EPA, 2016a).

The target accuracy is evaluation of 90% of all field trip blanks, field equipment/rinsate blanks, laboratory matrix spikes, laboratory control standards, laboratory method blanks, and laboratory surrogate standard checks to be within control limits.

3.1.3 Representativeness Objective

Representativeness is the extent to which discrete measurements and testing accurately describe the environmental system. Representative data are achieved through careful selection of sampling sites, and proper sampling and analytical procedures.

3.1.4 Completeness Objective

Completeness is achieved when the number of valid measurements is sufficient to satisfactorily address all-important issues about the site. Completeness is assessed as the number of "valid" measurements. A "valid" measurement is one in which the sample was properly collected and considered representative of the material sampled, and which was not rejected during the data quality review process. Results qualified during the data quality review process as estimated will be considered valid measurements, unless extenuating circumstances or professional judgment indicate otherwise.

The target completeness for this project is assessment of at least 90% of the sample analyses as "valid" (not rejected).

3.1.5 Comparability Objective

Comparability is the degree to which two or more data sets from the same site are generated using consistent procedures. Inherent compositional differences aside, discrete data sets may differ as a result of non-random (biased) sampling, variability in sampling technique, and variations in methods of analysis. To ensure comparability of data collected under this plan, the following actions will be implemented:

- 1. Hydrometrics' SOPs will be employed for sampling and analytical activities, as appropriate;
- 2. Field personnel will be thoroughly trained in sampling techniques;

- 3. Data results will be reported in standard units;
- 4. Data qualifiers will be consistent for all project data;
- 5. All sampling sites will be accurately delineated and recorded (HF-SOP-2); and
- 6. Analyses will be performed using EPA-accepted methods, as available and appropriate.

3.2 SAMPLING PROCEDURES

3.2.1 Field Measurements and Sample Collection Procedures

Field measurements and sample collection procedures for groundwater samples, surface water samples, and landfill gas samples are described in Sections 2.3, 2.4, and 2.5, respectively. Field procedures will be conducted according to Hydrometrics' SOPs provided in Appendix D.

3.2.2 Sample Labeling, Documentation, and Shipping Procedures

Procedures for sample labeling, documentation, and shipping are discussed in Section 2.2 and Hydrometrics' SOPs for these items are included in Appendix D. All samples collected and sent to the laboratory for analysis will follow these standard documentation and chain-of-custody procedures. Documents generated during sample collection will consist of:

- 1. Sample collection field notes and forms;
- 2. Chain-of-Custody forms; and
- 3. Shipping receipts for those samples sent to the laboratory by an independent courier.

3.3 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL SAMPLE COLLECTION

Field quality control samples will be used to provide quality assurance for field sampling and subsequent laboratory analysis of metals concentrations. This section describes the types of field quality control samples to be collected, and the frequency at which each type of field quality control sample will be collected.

<u>Field duplicate samples</u> are replicate samples from a single sampling location submitted to a laboratory for the same set of analyses. For the purposes of this project, field duplicates will be

3/13/19\11.28 AM

collected per the SOPs as referenced in Appendix D. Duplicates will be sent to the same laboratory, but will be identified with different sample numbers. Field duplicates will be collected at a frequency of one per twenty samples collected with a minimum of one per sampling event.

<u>Rinsate blank samples</u> are samples collected using deionized water. The rinsate blank is prepared by running the water over or through all previously decontaminated sampling equipment which potentially contacts the sample during sample collection. For the purposes of this project, rinsate blank samples will be collected per the SOPs as referenced in Appendix D (HF-SOP-13). The rinsate sample will be collected immediately prior to collecting the natural field sample. Rinsate blanks will be submitted for all parameters to be analyzed for during the sampling event. At a minimum, one rinsate blank sample will be collected per sampling event.

<u>**Trip blank samples**</u> are samples that are filled in the lab with reagent water using the same required sample-preparation procedures. The trip blank is not opened in the field. Field trip blanks will be submitted at a frequency of one per sample delivery group or one per cooler and for all parameters to be analyzed for during the sampling event.

3.4 LABORATORY PROCEDURES

Samples will be submitted to a qualified laboratory. Energy Laboratories, Inc. (ELI) located in Helena, MT will conduct all chemical analyses for both the water and gas samples.

3.4.1 Analytical Detection Limits

The project detection limits (PDL) for groundwater samples, surface water samples, and landfill gas samples listed in Tables 2-4, 2-7, and 2-10, respectively, are at concentrations normally achieved by routine analytical testing in the absence of unusual matrix interferences, and below anticipated regulatory standards wherever possible. The lower reporting limit for all field samples and quality control samples will be the PDL.

3.4.2 Laboratory Quality Control Limits

A summary of the laboratory quality control limits is listed in Table 3-1. These procedures are to be conducted at the laboratory in accordance with MDEQ requirements.

QA Sample/ Indicator Frequency		Acceptance Criteria		
Instrument	Calibrated daily, after	Calibration correlation coefficient must		
Calibration (IC)	maintenance, or as needed.	be ≥0.996		
Initial Calibration	Immediately following	%R=90-110		
Verification (ICV)	calibration.			
Continuing	Analyzed at beginning of run,	%R=90-110		
Calibration	every 10 samples and end of			
Verification (CCV)	run.			
Laboratory Control	1 per analytical run for direct	%R=85-115		
Standard (LCS)	samples or 1 per digestion			
	batch			
Method Blank	1 per analytical run for direct	Larger of ± 1 times lowest reporting limit		
	samples or 1 per digestion	or 2.2 times MDL		
	batch	< Reporting limit		
Matrix Spike	Minimum 1/10 samples	%R=70-130		
Matrix Spike	Minimum 1/10 samples	%R=70-130		
Duplicate	-	Larger of 3*PQL or 20% RPD		
Laboratory Duplicate	Minimum 1/10 samples	%R=70-130		
Samples	-	Larger of 3*PQL or 20% RPD		

 TABLE 3-1.
 SUMMARY OF LABORATORY QUALITY CONTROL LIMITS

3.4.3 Laboratory Deliverables

The selected laboratory for performing water and gas chemical analyses will deliver thorough documentation including the results of the tests, the testing method employed, and any relevant quality control information (calibration, laboratory standard sample results, etc.). Laboratory deliverables will consist of standard laboratory deliverables for all analyses. Laboratory reports should provide information on results, methods, and associated laboratory QC data.

All sample results will be provided in electronic format such as a PDF file and/or an Excel file. The deliverable package will also contain a summary of any deviations from procedures described in this work plan required as a result of corrective actions. Results will be provided to Hydrometrics' Data Management Department (attn. Ericka Vallance) within 30 days of sample receipt.

3.4.4 Data Quality Review

Data received from the laboratory will be transferred into the Hydrometrics database system. All entries will be compared with results provided by the laboratories to ensure database entries are free of transcription errors.

All data will be reviewed for completeness of deliverables, and adherence to prescribed sampling and analytical protocols and will generally be reviewed in accordance with National Functional Guidelines for Inorganic Superfund Methods Data Review (EPA, 2017a) and National Functional Guidelines for Organic Superfund Methods Data Review (EPA, 2017b).

In addition to the data quality review procedures outlined in the functional guidelines, data quality review will include:

- Completeness of submittal packages;
- Completeness of field documentation;
- Field equipment calibration and maintenance and quality of field measurements; and
- Adherence to proper sample collection procedures.

Data qualifiers will be assigned to data, which does not meet data quality objectives. A summary of the data qualifier codes is provided in Table 3-2.

TABLE 3-2. DATA VALIDATION CODES AND DEFINITIONS

<u>CODE</u> <u>DEFINITION</u>

- U- Blank contamination. Indicates possible high bias and/or false positive.
- H Holding time not met. Indicates low bias.

3.4.5 Corrective Actions

Any deviations from the work plan (concerning both field and laboratory work) which are necessary in order to generate data to meet the intended data uses of this QA/QCPP are considered corrective actions. Corrective actions may include:

- Changes in sample collection methods;
- Collection of additional samples;
- Sample reanalysis;
- Modification of analytical procedures or selection of new procedures; and
- Qualifying sample results as estimated or rejected.

All corrective actions must be approved by the project manager and QA Officer prior to making the changes. All corrective actions must be documented. A summary of corrective actions taken will be included in the data quality report.

3.5 DATA QUALITY REPORTS

A final report summarizing the overall quality of the data in terms of meeting the data quality objectives will be prepared after the conclusion of all sampling and analysis. This report shall consist of a summary of all the data validation quality review conducted for each sampling event and media type, an assessment of the overall completeness objectives for each analyte, and a summary of any relevant corrective action measures that were implemented.

4.0 REFERENCES

- EPA, 2001. EPA Requirements for Quality Assurance Project Plans, EPA QA/R-5, March 2001.
- EPA, 2016a. USEPA Contract Laboratory Program Statement of Work for Inorganic Superfund Methods Multi-Media, Multi-Concentration, ISM 02.4, October 2016.
- EPA, 2016b. USEPA Contract Laboratory Program Statement of Work for Organic Superfund Methods Multi-Media, Multi-Concentration, OSM 02.4, October 2016.
- EPA, 2017a. National Functional Guidelines for Inorganic Superfund Methods Data Review, EPA-540-R-2017-001, January 2017.
- EPA, 2017b. National Functional Guidelines for Organic Superfund Methods Data Review, EPA-540-R-2017-002, January 2017.
- Hydrometrics, Inc., 1994. Sampling and Analysis Plan, City of Helena Landfill Groundwater Monitoring Activities, Prepared for City of Helena, 1994.
- Hydrometrics, Inc., 2006. Revised Sampling and Analysis Plan, City of Helena Landfill Groundwater, Surface Water, and Landfill Gas Monitoring Activities, Prepared for City of Helena, 2006.
- Hydrometrics, Inc., 2008. Revised Sampling and Analysis Plan, City of Helena Landfill, Groundwater, Surface Water and Landfill Gas Monitoring Activities, Prepared for City of Helena, March 2008.

APPENDIX A

WELL LOGS

APPENDIX B

FIELD SAMPLING SITE FORMS

FIELD SAMPLING SITE FORMS

Site Name	Туре	Page
H-1	Methane probe	1
H-2	Methane probe	2
H-3	Methane probe	3
H-4	Methane probe	4
H-7	Methane probe	5
H-9	Methane probe	6
H-10	Methane probe	7
H-12R	Methane probe	8
H-13	Methane probe	9
H-14R	Methane probe	10
H-16	Methane probe	11
H-17	Methane probe	12
H-18	Methane probe	13
H-19	Methane probe	14
H-20	Methane probe	15
H-21	Methane probe	16
H-22	Methane probe	17
H-23R	Methane probe	18
H-25	Methane probe	19
H-26	Methane probe	20
H-27	Methane probe	21
H-28	Methane probe	22
H-29	Methane probe	23
H-30	Methane probe	24
H-31	Methane probe	25
H-32	Methane probe	26
H-33	Methane probe	27
H-34	Methane probe	28
H-35	Methane probe	29
H-36	Methane probe	30
H-37	Methane probe	31
H-38	Methane probe	32
H-39	Methane probe	33
H-40	Methane probe	34
H-42	Methane probe	35
H-43	Methane probe	36
H-44	Methane probe	37
Carroll College Sanitary Sewer	Methane probe	38
Carroll College Storm Sewer	Methane probe	39
EW-1	GES Component	40
EW-2	GES Component	41
EW-3	GES Component	42
EW-4	GES Component	43
EW-5	GES Component	44

Site Name	Туре	Page
EW-7	GES Component	45
YMCA GES Stack	GES Component	46
Carroll College GES Stack	GES Component	47
Lyndale GES Stack	GES Component	48
Concrete Fabricators	Building	49
Transfer station scale house	Building	50
Transfer station	Building	51
Transfer station office	Building	52
Carroll College shop	Building	53
Carroll College Housing Unit #1	Building	54
Carroll College Housing Unit #2	Building	55
Old Armory Building	Building	56
YMCA Sub-basement	Building	57
YMCA Mechanical room	Building	58
82-3	Groundwater well	59
EPA-1	Groundwater well	60
EPA-2	Groundwater well	61
EPA-4	Groundwater well	62
HL-1	Groundwater well	63
HL-06-1	Groundwater well	64
HL-10-1	Groundwater well	65
HL-90-1	Groundwater well	66
HL-90-2	Groundwater well	67
HL-90-3	Groundwater well	68
HL-94-1R	Groundwater well	69
HL-94-2R	Groundwater well	70
HL-94-3	Groundwater well	71
HL-99-1	Groundwater well	72
HL-99-2	Groundwater well	73
HL-99-3	Groundwater well	74
Infiltration Gallery	Irrigation well	75
I-1	Irrigation well	76
I-4	Irrigation well	77
M-5	Groundwater well	78
MPC-1	Groundwater well	79
MPC-2	Groundwater well	80
MPC-5	Groundwater well	81
Well 5	Residential well	82
Well 16	Residential well	83
Well 40	Residential well	84
Well 48	Residential well	85
Well 57	Residential well	86
Well 62	Residential well	87
Well 90	Residential well	88
Bridger Vet Clinic	Residential well	89

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfil	1	NUMB	ER: <u>027/127</u>	73
SITE CODE: H-1	_			
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	In parking	lot behind the	e old Armory	building
near tower in Armory parking lot near EW	'-2.			
SITE LOCATION: 46.59905003	° latitude	-1	12.032516	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STATE	E: Montan	ia
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extr REMARKS: (Access, etc.): <u>7 ft off ch</u>	action Well ain link fend	Building Gr	oundwater Wel	ll Residential Well



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Concrete barrier and chain link fence in Armory parking lot.

	NUN	IBER:	027/1273	
In concrete	structure s	south of	bench at in	tersection of
° latitude		-112.03	33861	° longitude
	STA	ГЕ:	Montana	
ction Well dge of paver	Building nent, 28 ft f	Groundy	water Well och, and 13'4'	Residential Well ' north of H-42
	In concrete ° latitude ction Well dge of paver	In concrete structure s ^o latitude STA' ction Well Building dge of pavement, 28 ft f	In concrete structure south of ° latitudeSTATE: ction Well Building Groundy dge of pavement, 28 ft from ben	In concrete structure south of bench at in ^o latitude <u>-112.033861</u> STATE: <u>Montana</u> ction Well Building Groundwater Well dge of pavement, 28 ft from bench, and 13'4'



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": clipboard

walking path intersection, bathrooms, bench, and well by

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER	R: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE: H-3				
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	located in Co	entennial Park by	v walking path	, use GPS to get
close to site				
SITE LOCATION: 46.59845601	° latitude	-112	.035559	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building Grou	ndwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): 19 ft from	pavement, 2	4 ft from moun	ded tree, in c	oncrete pad with
large steel cap				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": concrete pad with well is shown next to clipboard, mounded tree in background with edge of pavement at shortest distance from the well.

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBEF	R: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE: H-4	-			
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Halfway be	tween H-25 and	d Carrol Colle	ege Stack in
drainage ditch located 3 ft off cedar fence.				
SITE LOCATION: 46.60132798	° latitude	-112	.035693	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building Grou	ndwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): <u>3 ft off of e</u>	cedar fence,	snow is piled h	ere in the win	iter time, use
culvert and access road to help find the me	thane probe.			



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well location in small ditch near cedar fence.

PROJECT: Old City	y of Helena Landfill	[NUN	MBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE: H-7		_				
NARRATIVE SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	Well is loc	cated on the	e walkin	g trail behi	nd the transfer
station building.						
SITE LOCATION:	46.60491301	° latitude		-112.0	36842	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis an	nd Clark		STA	TE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: REMARKS: (Access,	Methane Probe Extr etc.): 4-ft from	action Well fence, 11-ft	Building from white	Ground [,] e aspen 1	water Well	Residential Well
				-		



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": from the white aspen tree in the picture

Well is 4 ft from the fence along the walking trail and 11 ft

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBE	ER: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE: H-9	-			
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Well is in th	e YMCA Park	ing Lot below the	e retaining wall
shown in the picture				
SITE LOCATION: 46.599505	° latitude	-1	12.032175	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	iction Well	Building Gro	oundwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): The probe	18 23.5 ft fr	om the retaining	ng wall shown i	n the picture in
between EW-3 and EW-4.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well location in YMCA parking lot

PROJECT: Old	City of Helena Landfill		NUMBE	R: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE: H-10)				
NARRATIVE SITE	E DESCRIPTION:	In YMCA	Parking Lot bel	ow retaining v	wall shown
in picture.					
SITE LOCATION:	46.59982301	° latitude	-112	2.031872	° longitude
COUNTY: Lew	is and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE:	Methane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building Grou	indwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Acce	iss, etc.): The probe	is offset of	t 5-menes norti	i of a power of	utiet on the
retaining wall and 2	20 ft 5 in from the retain	ing wall.			



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Retaining wall and well shown in the YMCA Parking lot.

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfi	11	NUM	IBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE: H-12R	_				
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Near flagp	ole by YMC	CA		
SITE LOCATION:46.60031897	° latitude		-112.0	30449	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STAT	ΓE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Ext	raction Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Steel pipe	by flagpole e	edge 8.5 ft fro	om tree	, 13 ft from c	oncrete border
around flag pole.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

steel pipe, concrete border around pole, and tree.

	NUMBER:	027/1273	
Between YMCA,	Skate Park, ar	nd North Las	t Chance Gulch
° latitude	-112.02	31056	° longitude
	STATE:	Montana	
ction Well Build	ing Groundy	water Well	Residential Well
ated northwest of	three large pir	ne trees betw	een the YMCA
y hill. The well is	30 ft from the	walking path	h and 32 ft
	Between YMCA, ^o latitude ction Well Build sated northwest of y hill. The well is	NUMBER: <u>Between YMCA, Skate Park, an</u> <u>° latitude</u> <u>-112.0</u> STATE: ction Well Building Groundw rated northwest of three large pin y hill. The well is 30 ft from the	NUMBER: 027/1273 Between YMCA, Skate Park, and North Las ° latitude -112.031056 STATE: Montana ction Well Building Groundwater Well Groundwater Well eated northwest of three large pine trees between y hill. The well is 30 ft from the walking path



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Hill with well, walking path, and pine tree

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill		NUM	IBER:	027/1273		
SITE CODE: H-14R	-					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	The probe is located near the garden shack behind the					
YMCA Building						
SITE LOCATION: 46.59902296	° latitude		-112.03	31536	° longitude	
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STA	TE:	Montana		
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building	Groundy	water Well	Residential Well	
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): 17.5 ft from	m horseshoe	e pit, 27ft f	rom cor	mer of the g	garden shack near	
three large pine trees						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": clipboard.

Garden shack and corner of horseshoe pit with well nearby

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-16	_			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Manhole co	ver located off the	ransfer statio	on service road
					_
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60385697	° latitude	-112.0	037118	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well 1	Building Ground	lwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS :	(Access, etc.): Triangulate	manhole fror	n pine tree and Ru	ussian olive.	The well is 63 ft
from pine tree a	and 64 ft from the Russian olive	e below the hil	ll leading up to the	e transfer stat	ion building.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": The photo shows the pine tree and the transfer station, the Russian olive is located to the right of the photograph.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill	l	_]	NUMBER	a: <u>027/1273</u>			
SITE CODE:	H-17		_						
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Well locat	Well located near bend in walking trail between concrete					
block and cha	in link fei	nce.							
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60415696	° latitude	_	-112	.037551	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		_	STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well									
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): The probe	is 4.5 ft from	n chain	link fence a	and 11.5 ft from	m the north side		
of the concrete	e block ne	ear Rick in the pictu	ure.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Trail with fence and concrete barriers.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfil	1	N	UMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-18		_				
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Northwest	t corner of	of YMCA	building ne	ar the pool
stan wen.							
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59987297	° latitude		-112.0	031701	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis ar	nd Clark		S	ΓΑΤΕ:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: C	Methane Probe Extr	action Well	Building	g Ground	lwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Probe is lo	cated 4 ft 9 in	n from th	e wall, 11	ft 8 in from t	he pool stairwell
and is next to	the clipbo	pard in the photogra	aph.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": YMCA building.

Photograph of building corner, well, and pool stairwell on

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		. 1	NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-19-SN	<u>/ID</u>	_				
NARRATIVE behind golf co	SITE DE ourse.	ESCRIPTION:	Between ra	ailroad	tracks and	power lines	along access road
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60483003	° latitude	_	-112.	034227	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis ar	nd Clark		-	STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	'PE:	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Buildi	ng Ground	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS :	(Access, o	etc.): Two Probe	s in casing, o	one wel	l is shallow	and one well	is deep. The two
probes are locat	ted betwee	n the road and the ra	uilroad tracks	south	of the power	r line and 42.	5 ft from the
power pole.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

well and reference power pole are shown in figure.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NUMBER: 027/1273						
SITE CODE:	H-20		_							
NARRATIVE access roads.	SITE DE	ESCRIPTION:	Located at	Located at the intersection of the railroad maintenance						
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60425201	° latitude	_	-112.	032237	° longitude			
COUNTY:	Lewis ar	nd Clark		S	STATE:	Montana				
STATION TY	PE:	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Buildir	ng Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well			
REMARKS: of the north ro	(Access, o ad	etc.): <u>13 ft 11 in</u>	from centerl	ine of th	ne south roa	ıd, 12 ft 7 in f	from the centerline			



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": the right.

Southern access road is on left, northern access road is on

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273
SITE CODE: H-21	_
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Probe located on driveway behind cabinet building shop.
SITE LOCATION: 46.60360501	° latitude -112.030106 ° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark	STATE: Montana
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Probe is 5	ft 5 inches from the fence in the bush off of the driveway
access road.	



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Probe is in the bush 5 ft 5 inches from the fence.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill	1	NU	JMBER:	027/1273			
SITE CODE:	H-22		_						
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	In Carroll	College S	Shop park	ting lot.			
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60269197	° latitude		-112.0	36231	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		ST	ATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): <u>33 ft from</u>	fence, 88 ft f	rom build	ing cornei	r in parking lo	ot. Well is a small		
manhole in the	Carroll Co	ollege Shop Parking	lot.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": and fence are shown in the image as well.

Probe located next to clipboard on ground, building corner

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill	l	NU	MBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-23R		_				
NARRATIVE	E SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Northeast	corner of	Carroll	College prac	tice field.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60216601	° latitude		-112.0)36151	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STA	ATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	TPE: C	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Building	Ground	lwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Methane p	probe is loca	ated in a m	netal cas	ing by the n	ortheast corner of
the CC soccer	practice	field 7 ft off the fem	ice line.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Northeast corner of practice field, well, and fence line.

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham

PROJECT:	Old City of	f Helena Landfill		N	NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-25		_				
NARRATIVE	E SITE DES	CRIPTION:					
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60010599	° latitude		-112.0)35493	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and	Clark		S	STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Me	thane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building	g Groundy	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, etc	c.): By parking	lot off corne	er of ceda	ar fence and	curb, end of	Carroll College
trench across fr	om the Saint	Catherine Dorm.	7 ft 6 in to c	urb, 6 ft	from the co	rner of the co	edar fence.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": curb box.

Corner of cedar fence with well and Carroll College trench

PROJECT:	Old City o	f Helena Landfill	II NUMBER: 027/1273					
SITE CODE:	H-26		_					
NARRATIVE park.	E SITE DES	CRIPTION:	Near the so	uth wall of	the YM	CA building	south of the skate	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.599777	° latitude		-112.()31454	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis and	Clark		STA	TE:	Montana		
STATION TY	PE: Me	thane Probe Extr	action Well	Building	Ground	lwater Well	Residential Well	
REMARKS: frame.	(Access, etc	c.): Probe is lo	ocated 5 ft fi	rom the bu	ilding v	wall and 10	ft from the window	



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Window frame, south wall, and well location.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		N	UMBER:	027/1273			
SITE CODE:	H-27		_						
NARRATIVE room.	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Near the Y	MCA bui	lding by t	he door to the	e blue chlorinated		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59975696	° latitude		-112.0	031851	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		S	TATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well									
REMARKS: ((Access,	etc.): Probe is lo	ocated 11 ft	7 in from	n the dou	ble door to t	he blue chlorinated		
room and 8 ft	6 in from	the sidewalk.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": next to the clipboard.

Blue doors to chlorinated room, sidewalk, and well located
PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-28	-			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Main entrand	ce to YMCA		
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.59960399	° latitude	-112.0)31871	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well B	Building Ground	lwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, etc.): Methane pr	obe is located	by main YMCA	entrance 5 ft f	rom the wall and
13 ft from the	sidewalk.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Main entrance to YMCA, well, and sidewalk.

PROJECT:	Old Cit	ty of Helen	a Landfill		NU	MBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-29			_				
NARRATIVE	E SITE D	DESCRIPT	ION:	YMCA B	uilding sou	th of the	e main entra	ince.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.599	942303	° latitude		-112.0	31907	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	and Clark			STA	ATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	YPE: <	Methane Pr	robe Extra	action Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: south wall.	(Access,	, etc.):]	Methane p	probe is loca	ated 8 ft 10) in fron	n the west w	call, 23 ft from the



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

West wall and south wall of the YMCA Building

PROJECT:	Old City of	of Helena Landfill		NUN	ABER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-30		_				
NARRATIVE	SITE DES	SCRIPTION:	Southwest	corner of	the YM	CA Building	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59929596	° latitude		-112.0)31995	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and	l Clark		STA	TE:	Montana	
STATION TY	TPE: M	ethane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, et	c.): Methane pr	obe is locate	ed 20 ft 4 in	from th	e building co	rner and 7 ft 5 in
from the wall o	f the YMCA	A.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": South west corner of YMCA Building, methane probe is located next to clipboard and equipment on ground surface.

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-31	-			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Dirt walking tra	il behind the	transfer stat	ion
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60463397	° latitude	-112.0	37201	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well Build	ling Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: side of the Tra	(Access, etc.): Methane pansfer Station	probe is 11 ft from	n tree and 6 f	t 9 in from f	ence on the west



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": The methane probe is located in a small manhole next to the clipboard in the photo. The nearby tree and fence are the reference measuring points.

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-32	_			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Red brick	divider on Lynda	le Road	
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.59814102	° latitude	-112	2.03393	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Building Grour	ndwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS :	(Access, etc.): The probe	is located 4 f	t from the planter	on Lyndale, 10) ft from the north
side of the stree	et, and 11 ft from the south side	of the street	•		



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": the brick area.

Red brick divider with planter, well is located at the center of

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NUMBE	ER: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE:	H-33		-			
NARRATIVE	E SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Planter in	center divider	on Lyndale Roa	ıd
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59811897	° latitude	-12	12.035455	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	TPE:	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Building Gro	oundwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): The probe i	is located be	tween two trees	in the planter in	the center divider
on Lyndale Roa	ad, 13 ft 4	in from the west tree	and 34 ft from	om the east tree	5 ft off the south	edge of the road.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":Rick standing on top of the well on Lyndale, two trees areshown as the measuring points with Carroll College in the background.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill	l	-	NUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-34		_				
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Below reta	ining	wall for Ca	arroll College	e dorm parking lot.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59935002	° latitude	-	-112	.035437	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		-	STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: C	Methane Probe Extr	action Well	Buildi	ng Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): This metha	ne probe is n	nissing	its protecti	ve metal cap a	and is covered by
a white concrete	e rock. T	he well is 24.5 ft from	n the mounde	ed tree	in the pictu	re and is offse	et 4 ft 10 in from
the concrete ret	aining wa	11.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": Carroll college in background, retaining wall and two trees are shown in the figure, the right tree is the reference for the well location measurement.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena La	ndfill		N	UMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-35							
NARRATIVE	E SITE DI	ESCRIPTION	:	Below larg	ge satelli	te receiv	er at corner o	of walking paths
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.598883	99	° latitude		-112.	.035560	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis ar	nd Clark			S	FATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	(PE: C	Methane Probe) Extra	ction Well	Building	g Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Meth	nane pi	robe is loca	ated 7 ft	from the	paved path a	and 19 ft from the
dirt path near	the large	satellite receiv	ver.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

The probe is located at the drill in the photograph.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NU	JMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-36		_				
NARRATIVE	E SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	West side	of the par	th as the	tunnel enters	Centennial Park.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59838501	° latitude		-112.0)35978	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		ST	ATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	YPE: 🤇	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.): The probe i	is 5 ft off the	e pavemen	t on the w	alking path a	nd 27.5 ft from the
lamppost. The	lamppost	is not shown in the p	icture.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Probe is located next to the clipboard in the photograph.

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helena Landfill		_	NUMB	ER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-37		_					
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	By base of	stone	retaini	ng wa	ll on the no	orth side of the
	ng paul	luiinei						
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59833497	° latitude		_	112.0	3585	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		_	STATE	2:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: <	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Build	ing Gi	oundw	vater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: ((Access,	etc.): By base of	f stone retai	ning v	vall 1 ft	4 in f	rom the re	taining wall and 18 ft
9 in from the s	ign. Th	e methane probe is c	covered by a	a ceme	ent bloc	k and	does not h	ave a cap.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": are shown.

Probe is located below the clipboard, sign and retaining wall

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		<u> </u>	IUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-38		_				
NARRATIVE	E SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Methane P	robe is	between	the mounded	tree and exercise
Uchen.							
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59844302	° latitude	_	-112	.035153	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		S	TATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	YPE:	Methane Probe Extr	action Well	Buildir	ng Grour	ndwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Methane	probe is loca	tted 3 ft	t from the	edge of the	pavement and 29.5 ft
from the corne	er of the b	prown bench on the	playground	shown	in the pic	cture.	



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Playground/rest stop/ and walking path near the well.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill			NUMB	ER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-39		-					
NARRATIVE the walking pa	E SITE DI ath.	ESCRIPTION:	Methane p	robe i	s in-bet	ween	manhole a	nd tree south of
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59837596	° latitude		-]	112.03	35157	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			STATE	3: .	Montana	
STATION TY	YPE:	Methane Probe Extra	action Well	Build	ing Gı	roundw	vater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Methane p	robe is 19 '	from	the edge	e of th	ne pavemen	nt and 28' from
the mounded	tree on hi	Ill between the man	hole and the	e tree.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": on the ground surface.

methane probe location is shown where equipment is piled

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273						
SITE CODE:	H-40		-						
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	North of w	alking pa	ath and v	west of runni	ng statue		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59845802	° latitude		-112.	034746	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		ST	ATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Methane p	robe is loca	ted 13 ft	7 in froi	m the edge of	f the pavement and		
8 ft from the s	prinkler	box.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": sprinkler box are shown in the picture.

probe is on the ground next to the clipboard, pavement and

DATE FORM COMPLETED: 11/1/2018

INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: John Anderson

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		N	UMBER:	027/1273			
SITE CODE:	H-42		-						
NARRATIVE methane probe	E SITE DE e H-2 and	ESCRIPTION: street.	On the slope between the roadway south of H-2 between						
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59827898	° latitude		-112.	033843	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis an	nd Clark		S	TATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Methane p	robe is loca	ted on	the hillslo	pe 15 ft off o	of the sidewalk and		
13 ft 4 in from	n methane	probe H-2.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Probe is located on the slope next to the clipboard.

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham

Old City of	Helena Landfill		NUMBER: 027/1273			
H-43						
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: By walking path, two buildings and roadway						
ION:	46.598282	° latitude		-112.	033495	° longitude
Lewis and	Clark		S	TATE:	Montana	
PE: Met	hane Probe Extra	ction Well	Buildin	g Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
(Access, etc. yndale Stack.): Methane pr	obe is locate	d 17 ft f	from the si	dewalk 42 ft 4	in from the south
	Old City of H-43 E SITE DESC TON: Lewis and C (PE: Met (Access, etc. yndale Stack.	Old City of Helena Landfill H-43 E SITE DESCRIPTION: ION: 46.598282 Lewis and Clark (PE: Methane Probe) Extra (Access, etc.): Methane pr yndale Stack.	Old City of Helena Landfill H-43 E SITE DESCRIPTION: By walking TON: 46.598282 ° latitude Lewis and Clark TPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well (Access, etc.): Methane probe is locate yndale Stack.	Old City of Helena Landfill N H-43 By walking path, t E SITE DESCRIPTION: By walking path, t TON: 46.598282 ° latitude Lewis and Clark S TPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Buildin (Access, etc.): Methane probe is located 17 ft ft yndale Stack. S	Old City of Helena Landfill NUMBER H-43 H-43 E SITE DESCRIPTION: By walking path, two builds ION: 46.598282 ° latitude -112. Lewis and Clark STATE: STATE: PE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groun (Access, etc.): Methane probe is located 17 ft from the si yndale Stack. Methane probe is located 17 ft from the si yndale Stack.	Old City of Helena Landfill NUMBER: 027/1273 H-43 E E SITE DESCRIPTION: By walking path, two buildings and road TON: 46.598282 ° latitude -112.033495 Lewis and Clark STATE: YPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well (Access, etc.): Methane probe is located 17 ft from the sidewalk 42 ft 4 yndale Stack.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": hidden in the grass.

Sidewalk and access road, methane probe is on the hillslope

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NU	MBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	H-44						
NARRATIVE	SITE DE	SCRIPTION:	On hill nor	th of fire	hydrant	near the old	armory parking lot.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59831704	° latitude		-112.	03296	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis an	d Clark		ST	ATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: N	Aethane Probe Extra	ction Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS :	(Access, e	etc.): Methane p	robe is 25 f	t 9 in to t	he parkir	ng lot corner	and 23 ft 8 in
from the fire h	ydrant.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": next to Rick in the photo view.

Armory parking lot corner and fire hydrant. Well is located

PROJECT:	Old City	Old City of Helena Landfill			NUMBER: 027/1273			
SITE CODE:	Carroll C	College Sanitary Se	wer					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: By retaining wall below Carroll College.								
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59926201	° latitude		-112.0)35491	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis an	d Clark			STATE:	Montana		
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Methane probe is located in a 10 inch high steel casing 13 ft 8 in from the manhole cover and 5 ft 8 in from the concrete wall.								



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Manhole cover, concrete block wall, and methane probe.

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill	N	UMBER: <u>027/1273</u>				
SITE CODE: <u>Carroll College Storm Sewe</u>	er					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: parking lot.	South end of stone	e retaining wall below	Carroll College			
SITE LOCATION: 46.59904299	° latitude	-112.035624	° longitude			
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark	S	TATE: Montana				
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well Building	g Groundwater Well	Residential Well			
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Methane pr	obe is located near th	ne end of the concrete re	etaining wall where			
a dirt walking path extends up to the parking lot. Methane probe is 13.5 ft from the south corner of the						
retaining wall and 11.5 ft from the edge of the	dirt walkway.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Probe, retaining wall, and dirt access are shown in the figure.

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helen	a Landfill		NUMBER: 027/1273			
SITE CODE:	EW-1							
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPT	ION:	Old armory	parkin	g lot near	chainlink er	nclosure.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.598	95901	° latitude		-112.	032717	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			S	ΓΑΤΕ:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE:	Methane Pr	obe	ction Well	Building	g Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: concrete barrie	(Access, er.	etc.): <u> </u>	Extraction	well is locat	ted 6.5	ft from th	ne chain link	fence behind a



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": in the picture.

Concrete barrier, chain link fence, and EW-1 are shown in

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273			
SITE CODE:	EW-2	-					
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Old armory park	king lot				
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.59914701	° latitude	-112.0	32545	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS:	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Extraction well is located in the armory parking lot near the concrete						
curb that divid	les this parking lot from the `	YMCA, near H-1	•				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Extraction well and tower in the old armory parking lot.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273			
SITE CODE:	EW-3					
NARRATIVE	SITE DE	ESCRIPTION:	YMCA Parking	lot near hors	seshoe court	fenced area.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59938699	° latitude	-112.0	32353	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis an	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: N	Methane Probe Extra	ction Well Build	ling Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: court fence co	(Access, e rner.	etc.): Located 41	ft from retaining	g wall corner	and 44 ft 7	in from horseshoe



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": court fence are in photo.

Parking lot of YMCA, edge of retaining wall and horseshoe

PROJECT:	Old City	of Heler	a Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273					
SITE CODE:	EW-4								
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPT	ION:	YMCA Parking Lot					
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.599	961397	° latitude	-112	.032154	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis an	nd Clark			STATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	PE: N	Methane P	robe	ction Well Build	ling Grou	ndwater Well	Residential Well		
REMARKS: to find the wel	(Access, 6 ll.	etc.):	Extraction	is located 38 ft f	from the ret	aining wall.	Use GPS locate		



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

EW-4 in YMCA parking lot

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	UMBER: 027/1273			
SITE CODE:	EW-5		-					
NARRATIVE	E SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	West of H-10 in middle of YMCA parking lot.					
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.599878	° latitude	-112.0)31932	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.): <u>Extraction</u>	well is located i	n the middle of	the parking lo	ot 38 ft 8 in from		
the retaining wa	all, a GPS	will be needed to loc	ate the extraction	on well.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Extraction well in YMCA parking lot.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273			
SITE CODE:	EW-7		_					
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	South edge of	skate park				
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59998998	° latitude	-112.0	031458	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Extraction well is in a grey concrete box south of the skate park. GPS							
point is centrall	y located,	the sample port is 4f	t south of the ska	ate park and 25	ft from the wa	ater fountain.		



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": water fountain is in the background.

Concrete box by skate park containing EW-5 sample port

DATE FORM COMPLETED: <u>11/1/2018</u>

INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: John Anderson

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NUMBER: <u>027/1273</u>		
SITE CODE:	YMCA S	Stack				
NARRATIVE	SITE DE	ESCRIPTION:	Between skate	park and YM	ICA Building	5
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59978596	° latitude	-112.0	031348	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis an	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well						
REMARKS:	(Access, e	etc.): Building is	located between t	he YMCA an	d the skate par	rk. Sample port
is located on the	e back wal	l and has enough pres	ssure to fill the ba	g. Air compr	essor in this r	oom runs the
sump pumps for	r the extra	ction system, and the	blower runs all th	ne EW wells i	n the YMCA	parking lot.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

YMCA Stack

PROJECT:	Old City of	Helena Landi	ïll	NUMBER:	027/1273				
SITE CODE:	Carroll Col	lege GES Stac	k Gas						
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:									
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	N	A	° longitude			
COUNTY:	Lewis and	Clark		STATE:	Montana				
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well									
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Inside of building at end of methane trench, sample taken from sample									
port on 6 inch	port on 6 inch PVC, use peristaltic pump to sample.								



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Carroll College GES Stack Building

DATE FORM COMPLETED: <u>11/1/2018</u> INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Lan	dfill	NUMBER	. 027/1273			
SITE CODE:	Lyndale Stack						
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Lyndale Stack					
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.5984570	1 ° latitude	-112.	033417	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS :	(Access, etc.): Grey s	stone building across	from armor	y, measure a	t sample port on		
6 in pvc, use a	peristaltic pump to sam	ple.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Lyndale Stack Building

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273		
SITE CODE:	Concret	e Fabricators					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: Concrete Fabricators main office							
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	1	NA	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana		
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Sample taken from the front desk by the window.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Main office access door

PROJECT:	Old City of	Helena Landfil	11	NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Transfer sta	ation scale hous	e			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESC	CRIPTION:	Transfer station	scale house		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	N	A	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and	Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Met	hane Probe Ext	raction Well Build	ling) Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, etc	.): The metha	ane alarm is mounte	ed to the wall i	n the scale ho	ouse above the
cabinetry. Ente	r the scale ho	ouse from the doo	or on the left side of	f the building i	in the below p	bhoto and walk
down a short na	rrow hallway	, the methane al	arm is located on th	e cabinetry on	the left at the	e end of the
short hallway.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": the left.

Outside of Transfer Station scale house, access the door from

PROJECT:	Old City of	Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Transfer sta	ation	_			
NARRATIVE	SITE DES	CRIPTION:	In truck access	of transfer sta	ation	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	N	A	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and	Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Met	hane Probe Extra	action Well Bui	ding Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc	.): Enter the tr	ansfer station fro	m the main pac	l where trash	is deposited.
Sign in with for	eman and wo	ork crew before he	ading down two	flights of stairs	to the basem	ent. Measurement
is taken near the	e large garag	e door on the sout	h side of building	. Area is extre	mely hazardo	us.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": station.

Measurement location at end of railway below the transfer

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helena Lar	dfill	NUMBER	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Transfe	r station office				
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	In office of tra	nsfer station,	access is in u	utility closet.
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	1	NA	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	'PE:	Methane Probe	Extraction Well Bui	lding) Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.): There	are two methane aları	ns under the b	uilding, one o	n the east side and
one on the west	side. To	access, there is	a trap door in the utili	ty closet to the	crawlspace.	Check the
methane level i	n the crav	wlspace before he	eading below the build	ling. A light s	witch is imme	diately behind the
ladder when en	tering the	crawlspace. Th	e control box is on the	e outside of the	utility room	closet.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Office photo and methane alarm photo.

PROJECT:	Old City of Hele	na Landfill		NUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Carroll College	hop				
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIP	FION: I	Inside of Carroll	College sh	op building.	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA ^c	[°] latitude		NA	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark			STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane I	Probe Extract	tion Well Build	ing) Grour	ndwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, etc.):	Take the met	hane reading in t	he shop on t	the corner of th	e desk across
from the microv	wave. The methane	e alarm is loca	ated above the mi	crowave in	the break area o	of the shop.
If the main door	r is locked, there is	another acces	ss on the back sid	e of the buil	lding in the bor	neyard area.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": on the left.

Garage door to Carroll College shop, office area is inside door

PROJECT:	Old City	Old City of Helena Landfill			NUMBER: 027/1273		
SITE CODE:	Carroll	College House	Unit #1				
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	Saint Catherin	e's Dorm			
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	Ň	IA	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana		
STATION TY	PE:	Methane Probe	Extraction Well Bui	lding Ground	lwater Well	Residential Well	
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.): Acces	ss is inside the storage	unit for Apartn	nent 008. Me	etal access cover	
is marked, remo	ove cover	and sample out	of geotubing.				
Call building	manager,	406-461-8273	, to make appointme	nt for access.			
Need key card	to gain e	entry.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": of the storage unit.

Methane probe is inside of the small cap on the back wall

PROJECT:	Old City of Hel	ena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Carroll College	House Unit	#2			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRI	PTION:	Saint Mathew's	Dorm		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	N	A	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clar	k		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane	Probe Extra	action Well Build	ling) Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, etc.):	Storage uni	t for apartment No	o. 1, remove ad	ccess cover ar	nd sample out of
Geotubing. Th	he metal cover is	s marked on	the wall.			
Call building 1	nanager, 406-46	51-8273, to m	nake appointment	t for access.		
Need key card	to gain entry.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": unit.

Methane probe is shown in photo, on back wall of storage

PROJECT:	Old City of Hele	ena Landfill		NUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Old Armory Bu	ilding				
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIP	TION:	Basement of Ole	d Armory B	uilding	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	1	NA	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark	C		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: Methane	Probe Extra	ction Well Build	ling) Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: ((Access, etc.):	Alarm is is t	the basement of th	e Armory bu	ilding and is e	expposed to the
landfill. Take t	he reading in the r	niddle of this	room, then set the	e alarm off.	If working cor	rectly the alarm
will be sounding	g near the front do	ors in the wh	ite control box pic	ctured below	. The code is	written on the box.



 DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":
 Methane alarm located by front doors on main level.

 Location of methane monitoring in the basement of the Arm The methane sensor is located above the door shown in the basement photo.

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NUMBER	. 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	YMCA	Sub-basement	_			
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Sub Basement	of YMCA B	uilding	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude	1	NA	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: 1	Methane Probe Extra	action Well Bui	lding Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access,	etc.): Access the	sub basement the	rough the pool	area. Alarm	is located above
work bench. W	hen settin	g this alarm off use h	earing protection	n it will sound	in the basmen	t and above the main
desk in the lobb	у.					



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": lobby

Sensor above work bench, and alarm above main desk in

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham
PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill	N	UMBER: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE: YMCA mechanical room			
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Chlorinator room a	at the YMCA	
SITE LOCATION: NA	° latitude	NA	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark	S	TATE: Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	ction Well Building	Groundwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Access thro	ugh blue chlorinated	rooms outside of the YM	MCA. Get the
key at the front desk. Alarm sensor is loacated	in protective case or	heating vent. Remove	the case to test
the alarm, alarm will sound in the main lobby.			



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Alarm sensor and the main methane control panel

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM:

Jodi Bingham

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Land	fill	NUMBER					
SITE CODE:	Well 82	-3							
NARRATIVE	E SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Carroll Co	llege Shop storag	je area				
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60244403	° latitude	-112.	035906	° longitude			
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		STATE:	Montana				
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well									
REMARKS :	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Located in the fenced area behind the Carroll College shop. Well is a								
casing offset f	from the s	shop wall.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well in the grass behind the shop.

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena Landfill	-	N	UMBER:	027/1273		
SITE CODE:	EPA-1		_					
NARRATIVE	E SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	By rest sto	p sign o	n walking	path.		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60103898	° latitude		-112.0)2999	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark		S	ГАТЕ:	Montana		
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): By rest stop on walking path before tunnel under roadway, 7.5 ft from							
the edge of the	e walking	g path and 15 ft from	n the rest sto	op sign.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Rest stop sign, well, and walking path

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landfill		NUMBER: 027/1273			
SITE CODE:	EPA-2		_				
NARRATIVE	SITE DE	SCRIPTION:	Slope by s	kate park near Ru	issian olive tr	ees.	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59999903	° latitude	-112	.03094	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis an	d Clark		STATE:	Montana		
STATION TY	PE: M	Iethane Probe Extra	action Well	Building Ground	dwater Well	Residential Well	
REMARKS: ((Access, e	etc.): Groundwat	ter well is loc	ated in the sprinkl	er box located	on slope	
east of the skate	e park 34.5	ft from the walking	trail and 13	ft from the north si	ide of the skate	e park near	
three Russian of	live trees.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Skate park and sprinkler box.

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273						
SITE CODE:	EPA-4		-						
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	Intersection	n of w	alking path	18			
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60249701	° latitude	-	-112	.03402	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			STATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): At corner	of walking p	paths i	n concrete	structure. 36	ft to the light pole		
and 38 ft to the	e power	box.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well at walking path intersection.

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena Landfil	l	NUMBER: 027/1273			27/1273	
SITE CODE:	HL-1		_					
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	End of Fro	nt Str	eet			
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.59784103	° latitude	•	-1	12.03	51	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			STATE:	N	Iontana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): In ripwrap slope by walking path 7 ft 9 inches from west cement post and 8 ft from the edge of the walking path at the end of Front Street.								



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well in the ripwrap slope at the end of Front Street

PROJECT:	Old City	Old City of Helena Landfil			1 NUMBER: <u>027/1273</u>					
SITE CODE:	HL-06-1	1		-						
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPT	ON:	East side o	of Fror	nt Street nea	ar the parking	g lot.		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.596	73001	° latitude		-112.	035602	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			-	STATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well									
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.): <u>I</u>	East side o	of Front Stre	eet nea	ar the parking	ng lot. 20 ft 9	in from the		
curb corner an	d 9 ft fro	m the curl).							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": 9 ft off of the curb.

well is located between the truck and sedan on the white line

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273					
SITE CODE:	HL-10-1								
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPTION:	Batchfields	parking lot.						
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60649903	° latitude	-112.0)38604	° longitude				
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana					
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS:	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Well is located in the parking lot for Batchfields on the west side of the								
driving range	fence. HL-90-1 is in the back	kground.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well with driving range fence in background.

PROJECT:	Old City	Old City of Helena Landfil		NUMBER: 027/1273		: 027/1273		
SITE CODE:	HL-90-1							
NARRATIVE	E SITE DE	SCRIPTION		Inside driv	ving rar	ige fence.		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.606503	98	° latitude		-112.	038521	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis an	d Clark			_	STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: N	Methane Probe	Extra	ction Well	Buildi	ng Groun	dwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access, e	etc.): Well	is 18.	5 ft from th	he pole	on driving	g range fence	and is 17ft from the
tie wire on the	e power lii	ne.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well, driving range fence. HL-10-1 is in the background

PROJECT:	Old City of Hele	na Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273						
SITE CODE:	HL-90-2								
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIP	ΓΙΟN:	At edge of	golf c	ourse off o	f railroad acc	ess road.		
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60	518701	° latitude	-	-112.	033743	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark			-	STATE:	Montana			
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS: (Access, etc.):19.5 ft from the west post.									



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well is located 19.5 ft from the west post shown in the photo.

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: <u>027/1273</u>
SITE CODE: HL-90-3	
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Access road to transfer station.
SITE LOCATION:46.60468896	° latitude -112.039404 ° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark	STATE: Montana
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Groundwate	er well is located between the transfer station access road and
the fence. The well is 19 ft off the fence line a	nd 19 ft from the road in the photo. Use GPS to get close
as there are no consistent landmarks.	



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well is located at clipboard on ground.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Lan	dfill		NUMBER: 027/1273				
SITE CODE:	HL-94-1	R							
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: Memorial Park Bathrooms									
SITE LOCATION: <u>46.59985998</u> ° latitude <u>-112.028174</u> ° longitude									
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			. 5	STATE:	Montana		
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS :	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Well is in-between Memorial Park bathrooms and playground parking lot								
2 ft off curb, 10	0.5 ft from	bathrooms, and	12 ft f	rom sidewa	alk.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Rick, standing on well.

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helen	a Landfill		1	NUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	HL-94-2	2R						
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: South side of Cemetery Fence								
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.603	861901	° latitude		-112	.042412	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			. 5	STATE:	Montana	
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.):	Well is loca	ited about 6	ft off ce	emetery fer	nce on south si	de of cemetery.
North of a resid	lential ho	use.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Cemetery fence and well location.

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273					
SITE CODE:	HL-94-3	_					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: Sharbano building parking lot.							
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60321701	° latitude	-112.0	28068	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
KEMARKS:	(Access, etc.): In parking	lot of Sharband	Building in t	ne dirt off the	e pavement.		



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well is in grass, sharbano building is in the background.

PROJECT:	Old City of	Helena Landfill		NUMBER:	027/1273		
SITE CODE:	HL-99-1						
NARRATIVE	SITE DESC	RIPTION:	West extraction	well			
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60638898	° latitude	-112.0	39525	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis and C	Clark		STATE:	Montana		
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well REMARKS: (Access, etc.): West most extraction well in parking lot for Batchfields in fenced area.							
				÷ C			



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Fenced area with well HL-99-1 inside.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Landf	ill	NUM	IBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	HL-99-2						
NARRATIVE	SITE DE	SCRIPTION:	Middle ext	traction wel	1		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.605979	° latitude		-112.0	38146	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis an	d Clark		STA	ГЕ:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: N	Iethane Prob	traction Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: railroad tracks	(Access, e	etc.): In fence	d area, middle	e extraction	well in	between dr	riving range and



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Fenced area containing HL-99-2

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM: Jodi Bingham

PROJECT:	Old City of	Helena Landfill		NUMB	ER: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE:	HL-99-3		_			
NARRATIVE	SITE DESC	RIPTION:	East Extrac	ction Well		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.605387	° latitude	1	12.036016	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and C	Clark		STATE	: <u>Montana</u>	
STATION TY	PE: Meth	nane Probe Extra	action Well	Building Gr	oundwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: east most extra	(Access, etc. action well): In fenced	area next to	propane tank	between road a	nd railroad tracks.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": background.

Fenced area containing HL-99-3, propane tank in

PROJECT:	Old City	Old City of Helena Landfill			NUMBER: <u>027/1273</u>			
SITE CODE:	Infiltrati	ion Galler	у					
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPT	ION:	East side of	f Golf	f Course.		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.60)7093	° latitude	-	-112.0	031997	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark				STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Irrigation Well Residential Well								
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.):	East side o	f golf cours	e on a	access road,	use GPS to	locate the well.
Sample this w	ell with a	a bailer.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well and power box.

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena Land	dfill			NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	I-1							
NARRATIVE	E SITE D	ESCRIPTION:		Well in go	lf cou	rse.		
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.61275897	7	° latitude		-112.	039649	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark				STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Irrigation Well Residential Well								
REMARKS :	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Located in golf course, use the access road by the maintenance shop to							
drive to the w	ell. 37 ft	to pine tree, 34	ft 4 i	in to edge of	of acco	ess road.		



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Pine trees and access road nearby well.

PROJECT: Old City of Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027/1273					
SITE CODE: <u>I-4</u>	_					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION:	Well house by n	naintenance	shed.			
SITE LOCATION: 46.608737	° latitude	-112.0	03972	° longitude		
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extra	action Well Build	ling (Irrigatio	on Well Res	sidential Well		
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): The well i	s located in the w	ell house in-	between the	two batch fields		
by the maintenance shed. Sample is taken	from the port on	the main lin	e.			
Need to call City to gain access to shed.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well house

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena	Landfill		-	NUMBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	M-5							
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: Off curb access on North Main Street								
SITE LOCAT	ION:	46.602	21596	° latitude	-	-112.0	028733	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			_	STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well								
REMARKS :	(Access,	etc.): <u>C</u>	off curb ac	cess off of n	orth m	ain, well is l	ocated on the	west side of the
street. 12 ft off the edge of concrete.								



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well and sidewalk

PROJECT:	Old City of Helen	na Landfill		NUMBER	: 027/1273		
SITE CODE:	MPC-1						
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRIPT	TION:	well in gras	ss, use GPS to h	elp locate		
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60	411798	° latitude	-112	.030685	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark			STATE:	Montana		
STATION TY	STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well						
REMARKS: telephone pole	(Access, etc.):	Well is loc	ated 27 ft o	ff the corner of t	he fence and	37 ft off the steel	



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW": shown in the photograph.

well is in the grass, fence corner and telephone pole are

PROJECT:	Old City of Helena Landfil	1	NUMBER:	027/1273			
SITE CODE:	MPC-2	_					
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: North Western Energy Substation							
SITE LOCAT	ION: 46.60503899	° latitude	-112.0)30836	° longitude		
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clark		STATE:	Montana			
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS:	REMARKS: (Access, etc.): North of substation fence and south of barbed wire fence in grass, 5.5 ft						
away from the	chain link.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well is in grass next to Montana Power Company substation.

PROJECT: Old City of H	Helena Landfill	NUMBER: 027	//1273				
SITE CODE: MPC-5							
ACROSS from fire hydrant by Northwestern Energy sign and nain office parking lot.							
main office parking lot.							
SITE LOCATION:	46.601676 ° latitud	e -112.02873	[°] longitude				
COUNTY: Lewis and C	lark	STATE: Mo	ntana				
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
KEWIAKKS: (Access, etc.)	wen is located of it	from tree and 4 ft from th	le sluewalk.				



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

Well location, tree, and sidewalk.

PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena La	ndfill	NUN	MBER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE:	5						
NARRATIVE	SITE DI	ESCRIPTION:	Ms. Sandr	a Colvin, 3	50 Custe	er Ave., 44	3-7463
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude		NA	A	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis ar	nd Clark		STA	TE:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE: N	Methane Probe	Extraction Well	Building	Groundv	vater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.): Well	is located in decor	ative wood	well hou	se. The con	ntrol box for this
well is located i	in the gara	ige, Ms Colvin	will turn it on and	off. When	sampling	this well b	ring a long hose and
run the purge water across the driveway to the grass by the other house. Sample taken from well head.							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old City of He	lena Landfill		NUM	BER: <u>02</u>	27/1273	
SITE CODE:	16						
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRI	PTION:	Mr. Mark	Erickson, 3	Parr Cou	rt, 442-761	0
SITE LOCATI	ON:	NA	° latitude		NA	c	longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clar	rk		STAT	Ъ: <u>М</u>	lontana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS: (Access, etc.):	Well is loca	ted 3' behind	d wood gate	on the east	t side of the	house. The
control box is in	the garage. The	is well can run	dry and the	owner will tu	ırn it on a	nd off. Sam	ple taken from
well head							



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helena Lar	ndfill	NU	MBER:	027/1273		
SITE CODE:	40							
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: Mr. Ed Hartman, 2509 Teakwood, 442-1331								
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude		N	A	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis a	und Clark		STA	ATE:	Montana		
STATION TY	PE:	Methane Probe	Extraction Well	Building	Ground	water Well	Residential Well	
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Well is located in the back yard near the raised bed gardens, control box								
is in the garage. The owner will turn it on and off. Sample take from well head.								



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old City of Hel	ena Landfill		NUMBER	a: <u>027/1273</u>		
SITE CODE:	48						
NARRATIVE	SITE DESCRI	PTION:	C. A. Barbeau, 3	308 W. Cus	ster Ave, 442-	2117	
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude		NA	° longitude	
COUNTY:	Lewis and Clar	k		STATE:	Montana		
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well							
REMARKS: ((Access, etc.):	Well is locat	ed in front of the	house on th	e east side of the	he property. To	
sample this well	l go to the breake	r box on the no	orth side of the de	ck, turn the	breaker on. Br	ring a hose to run	
water away from	n the house.						



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old Cit	y of Helen	a Landfill		N	UMBEI	R: <u>027/1273</u>	
SITE CODE:	57							
NARRATIVE	E SITE D	ESCRIPT	ION:	Mr. Tom (Osborne,	112 Dı	unbar Ave., 4	59-7171
SITE LOCAT	ION:	N	А	° latitude			NA	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	und Clark			S	ΓΑΤΕ:	Montana	
STATION TY	PE:	Methane Pr	obe Extra	ction Well	Building	g Grou	Indwater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS:	(Access,	etc.):	Well is loca	ted in decor	ative wo	od well	house. Sample	e taken from frost
free near well.								



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT: Old City of I	Helena Landfi	11	NUN	ABER:	027/1273	
SITE CODE: 62						
NARRATIVE SITE DESC	RIPTION:	Mr. Thoma	as Herrin, 7	76 Dunb	ar Ave., 44	43-1163
SITE LOCATION:	NA	° latitude		NA	4	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and C	lark		STA	TE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Metha	ane Probe Ext	traction Well	Building	Groundv	vater Well	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.)	: Well is lo	cated behind t	he house, sa	ample is t	taken from	spigot near the
irrigation line. Sample port w	as put in by ow	vner for us to s	ample.			



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

SITE CODE: 90 NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: 933 Cedar St., 439-4941 SITE LOCATION: NA ° longitude	PROJECT:	Old City	of Helena Land	lfill	NUMBE	R: <u>027/127</u>	73
NARRATIVE SITE DESCRIPTION: 933 Cedar St., 439-4941 SITE LOCATION: NA ° longitude	SITE CODE:	90					
SITE LOCATION: NA °latitude NA °longitude	NARRATIVE	SITE DE	SCRIPTION:	933 Cedar	St., 439-4941		
STELOCATION. IVA landade IVA longitude	SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude		NA	° longitude
COUNTY: Lewis and Clark STATE: Montana	COUNTY:	Lewis and	d Clark		STATE:	Montan	a
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well	STATION TY	TPE: M	Iethane Probe E	Extraction Well	Building Gro	undwater Wel	Residential Well
REMARKS: (Access, etc.): Well is loacated under protective box in the alley. The control box is in	REMARKS: ((Access, e	tc.): <u>Well is</u>	loacated under p	rotective box in	the alley. Th	he control box is in
the garage shop area. Turn on one zone and let it run for 15 minutes and sample from sigot in the well box.	the garage shop	area. Turi	n on one zone an	d let it run for 15	5 minutes and sa	mple from si	got in the well box.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED:

PROJECT:	Old City	y of Helena Landfil	1		NUMBER	: 027/1273	
SITE CODE:	Bridger	Veterinary Clinic	_				
NARRATIVE	SITE D	ESCRIPTION:	Sharlene S	teav,	3104 Green	n Meadow Dr	., 443-5874
SITE LOCAT	ION:	NA	° latitude			NA	° longitude
COUNTY:	Lewis a	nd Clark			STATE:	Montana	
STATION TYPE: Methane Probe Extraction Well Building Groundwater Well Residential Well PEMARKS : (Access etc.): Sample is taken from the frost free in the back of the picture							
KLWARKS.	ALLESS,	etc.). <u>Sample is</u>					e picture.



DESCRIPTION OF PHOTO "VIEW":

DATE FORM COMPLETED: INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM:

Jodi Bingham

APPENDIX C

40 CFR PART 258 APPENDIX I TABLE 1

APPENDIX D

STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES AND FORMS